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Statement of compliance 
Minister responsible for the Department of Culture and the Arts 
Dear Minister 
 
In accordance with Section 61 of the Financial Management Act 2006 I hereby submit, for your information and presentation to Parliament, 
the Annual Report of the Department of Culture and the Arts for the financial year ended 30 June 2012.  This report has been prepared in 
accordance with the provisions of the Financial Management Act 2006 and all other legislation including: 

 Disability Services Act 1993 
 Electoral Act 1907 
 Equal Opportunity Act 1984 
 Occupational Safety and Health Act 1984 
 Public Sector Management Act 1994 
 State Records Act 2000. 

 

At the date of signing, I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the report misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jacqui Allen 
Acting Director General 
11 September 2012 
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Overview of the agency
Profile of the 
Department 
Who we a re  and  wha t  we  
do  

The Department of Culture and the Arts is 
part of the Culture and the Arts Portfolio 
which also includes: 

 Art Gallery of Western Australia (a  
 statutory authority) 

 Perth Theatre Trust (a statutory  
 authority) 

 ScreenWest (an incorporated  
 association) 

 State Library of Western Australia 
 (a statutory authority) 

 Western Australian Museum (a  
 statutory authority). 

  

Sweet Sweet Galaxy by Pip & Pop (Tanya Shultz and Nicole Andrijevic).  Photo by Douglas Atfield. 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 4 

The State established the Department to: 

 guide and implement Government policy 

 provide support and resources for the development and 
delivery of culture and the arts 

 align the services delivered by the culture and arts portfolio 
with Government policy objectives. 

The Department leads in linking the Portfolio to the Government’s 
policy framework as well as being the main contact point for the 
Minister for Culture and the Arts and central government agencies.  
The Department is headed by the Director General who is the 
employing authority of all Portfolio staff with the exception of the 
Chief Executive Officers of the statutory authorities. 
The Department includes the operations of the State Records Office 
(SRO) which provides guidance across government in government 
recordkeeping and is responsible for managing the State’s archives. 

81 per cent feel the arts play an important role in 

helping us understand our own culture and way of 

life and that of others 

Our  v is ion  

The Western Australian community is enriched by unique and 
transforming culture and arts experiences. 

Our  va lues  

Imagination: valuing the creative application of knowledge and the 
courage inherent in seeking innovative solutions. 
Respect: valuing and acknowledging the diversity and complexities 
of the communities we serve. 
Professionalism: taking a skilled, collaborative and knowledge-
based approach to all our work. 
Integrity: acting ethically and responsibly in all our dealings and 
taking responsibility for our own behaviour. 

Our  s t ra tegy  

The report on the agency’s performance (page 18) reflects the 
strategic focus outlined in the Department’s 2010-2014 Strategic 
Plan. 
The State Records Act 2000 establishes the SRO’s specific role 
within government.  A report on the SRO’s activities for the year, 
aligned to its own strategic objectives, is included on page 36 of this 
report. 
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The Culture and Arts Portfolio 
Portfolio demographics 
The following tables summarise the portfolio’s employee demographics:

Cul tu re  and Ar ts  Por t fo l i o  
demograph ics  a t  30  June 201 2 

Employment Type Women Men 

Permanent Full-time 199 159 
Permanent Part-time 175 35 
Fixed Term Full-time 68 40 
Fixed Term Part-time 46 12 
Casual paid in previous 12 months 6 0 
Other paid in previous 12 months 8 1 

Total 502 247 

 

Demograph ics  by  Organ isa t i on  
 

Department/Portfolio Organisation Women Men 
Department of Culture and the Arts 85 49 
Art Gallery of Western Australia 58 22 
Perth Theatre Trust 34 12 
ScreenWest 17 4 
State Library of Western Australia 166 64 
Western Australian Museum 142 96 

Total 502 247 

“…the Commonwealth Festival Perth not only gave 

Western Australians a chance to be involved, it was 

also instrumental in showcasing Perth to the 4000 

delegates and visitors who came to the city as part of 

CHOGM 2011.”
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Director General’s foreword

  
There have been a number of significant projects during the 2011/12 financial 
year that have been defining for the Department of Culture and the Arts. 

The Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting (CHOGM) held in Perth in 
October 2011 was a key event during the reporting year.  As part of CHOGM 

2011, the State Government — through the 
Department — hosted the Commonwealth Festival 
(delivered in partnership with the Perth International 
Arts Festival) which attracted more than 63,000 
people and featured more than 70 events over eight 
days, including the impressive Revealed exhibition of 
Indigenous art work. There was a major focus on the 
Perth Cultural Centre with the WA Museum’s and Art 
Gallery of WA’s visiting exhibitions as well as Eating 
the Archives, an innovative event organised by the 
SRO. 
For the Department, CHOGM 2011 and the 
Commonwealth Festival provided an exciting 
opportunity for us to partner with colleagues on local, 
state, national and international levels, ensuring that 
WA arts and culture was part of one of the most 
significant political events to be held in Perth. 
I was proud to be on the State’s CHOGM Steering 
Committee, while other DCA staff were represented 
on the Commonwealth Festival Working Group, 
CHOGM Marketing Group and other related groups.  
Through our involvement, we were able to observe 
how government, at all levels, recognises and values 
the unifying role that arts and culture plays in 
bringing together communities, cultures and nations.   

Allanah Lucas. Photo by Frances Andrijich. 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 7 

Initiatives such as these, and other activities outlined in this annual report, have 
enhanced the Department’s profile and reputation over the reporting year and 
demonstrated the important role culture and arts play in our State.   
In addition to providing more than $21 million in funding during 2011/12 to arts 
organisations, groups and individuals, the Department linked with other local, 
State and Australian Government agencies, and the non-government sector in 
dozens of projects which have contributed to creating arts and cultural 
experiences for Western Australians.  I encourage you to read about these 
projects, and our many other challenges and achievements, which are 
documented in this annual report.  
I am proud of the Department’s staff and their achievements over the past 12 
months and thank them for their commitment and creativity, which is so 
important in the delivery of our policies, planning, funding and projects. 
Furthermore in a major change of home for DCA to 140 William Street, Perth, 
the staff have seamlessly delivered the Department’s services while 
experiencing a significant adjustment to their daily environment. 
I would like to thank the executive team — Jacqui Allen, Eric Isailovic and 
Cathrin Cassarchis — for their support and leadership in their respective areas, 
as well as the CEOs of the Culture and Arts Portfolio. 
My thanks also to the Minister for Culture and the Arts, the Hon John Day for his 
support, ongoing leadership and commitment.    
As we head into the next financial year, I am confident that the Department will 
continue to build on the substantial achievements and progress of the past year 
and I look forward to what will be accomplished in the future. 
 
 
 
Allanah Lucas 
Director General 

Mia Powell in Priceless Point, Act Belong Commit 
Worn Art retrospective 2012. Costume by Lesley 
Marsh.  Photo by Brad Durack. 
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Senior Executive 
Allanah Lucas 
MA Dip Ed  

Director General 

Allanah Lucas has been working in the Australian and United 
Kingdom arts sectors for over 25 years as a professional CEO and 
arts administrator, performing arts producer, presenter and 
practitioner, researcher, consultant and tutor.  These previous 
roles bring a diversity and depth of experience to her role as 
Director General. 
Since joining the Culture and Arts Portfolio in 2000 as Director of 
ArtsWA, she has held the positions of Acting Chief Executive 
Officer of the WA Museum (2004) and Executive Director of the 
Culture and Arts Development Directorate (2005).  Allanah was 
appointed Director General in 2008. 
As Director General, Allanah is an ex-officio member of the five 
boards in the Culture and Arts Portfolio.  She is also on the 
Advisory Board of The University of Western Australia’s Arts, 
Humanities and Social Sciences Faculty. 
Allanah is an Executive Fellow of the Australian and New Zealand 
School of Government. 
 

Jacqui Allen 
BA (Arts Management); PostGradDipBus (Marketing); EMPA 

Deputy  D i rec to r  Genera l ,  Deve lopment  
and  S t ra tegy  D i rec to ra te  

Jacqui Allen was appointed to the role of Deputy Director General 
in March 2009.  Prior to joining the Department in 1998, she 
worked in the arts sector and for six years managed the 
Performing Arts Touring Program for Country Arts WA.  Jacqui 
was also employed in both the Court and Gallop governments as a 
Principal Arts Policy Advisor before returning to the Department in 
2004.  Since returning, she has fulfilled roles in the Capital Works, 
Arts Funding and Policy areas of the Department. 
Jacqui is a Fellow of Leadership WA. 
 

73 per cent believe the arts make them feel good 

 

61 per cent believe the arts help them connect with 

and feel part of their community 
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Eric Isailovic 
Execu t i ve  D i rec to r ,  Genera l  Opera t i ons   

Eric Isailovic was appointed Executive Director in April 2008, 
having worked for more than 25 years in senior corporate and 
operational management roles in government at both State and 
Federal levels.  His past sector experience has included the public 
transport and law enforcement domains.  Eric also worked for five 
years as a successful small business operator in the food 
manufacture and retail sector. 

Cathrin Cassarchis 
BA (English and Drama); Dip (Arts Management and Training) 

Sta te  A rch iv is t  and  Execut i ve  D i rec to r  
S ta te  Records ,  S ta te  Records  Of f i ce  o f  
WA 

Cathrin Cassarchis was appointed in March 2008.  Her 
background in the archive sector includes her roles as Head of 
Public Affairs for The National Archives in the United Kingdom, 
and as funding consultant to the National Council on Archives 
(UK).  Before her current appointment Cathrin was Director of the 
WA Museum Foundation where she was responsible for 
fundraising, strategy and policy development, and the negotiation, 
facilitation and achievement of corporate targets and objectives. 
Cathrin is a member of the Geographic Names Committee.  

 
 

  
Dawn Pascoe, Ross Vegas, Ella Hetherington and 
Nathan Kell, Dreamhouse, Pinstripe Circus.  Photo by 
Cristophe Canato. 
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Highlights of the year 
  Providing more than $21 million in funding in 2011/2012 to support the delivery of 

both traditional and emerging art forms across the State, including over $17 million 
core recurrent funding granted by the Department to 49 non-government 
organisations whose level of service is critical to the development of the sector; and 
more than $4 million granted by peer and expert panels to 235 organisations, 
individuals and projects across a wide range of art forms. 

 Managing a $2.45 million contract with the Perth International Arts Festival to 
deliver a festival for the CHOGM in Perth in October 2011.  The Commonwealth 
Festival presented more than 70 free events over eight days from 23 – 30 October 
2011.  Artists from across the Commonwealth were showcased and there was a 
strong focus on WA Indigenous content.  More than 63,000 people attended the 
Festival. 

 Partnering with the Department of Indigenous Affairs and Central Institute of 
Technology, the Department secured $98,000 from the Australian Government 
Office for the Arts to deliver Revealed: Emerging Aboriginal Artists from WA 2011 
Showcase from 24 October to 12 November 2011. Revealed comprised a major 
exhibition, commercial marketplace and professional development program. It 
represented about 75 per cent of WA Indigenous art centres, attracted over 2,300 
people, exhibited 320 works from more than 40 artists and made sales of $157,180. 
Revealed was conducted during CHOGM 2011. 

 Progressing the Funding Process Review by consulting with the WA arts sector and 
benchmarking with national and international experts and government agencies to 
develop a Public Value Measurement Framework.  The Framework, which 
measures the full extent of the public value of arts and culture, is a world first and 
implementation is planned to begin in 2012/13. 
 

 Ella Hetherington, The Red Tree, Barking Gecko 
Theatre Company. Photo by Ashley de Prazer. 
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 Renewing the Memorandum of Understanding between the 
Department, the Department of Education (WA) and the 
Australia Council for the Arts for the Artist-In-Residence 
(AIR) program.  The largest program of its kind in Australia, 
AIR has provided $840,000 towards artists in school 
residency projects and longer-term school residencies for 
DCA funded organisations. 

 Supporting the roll-out of the Indigenous Intellectual 
Property Toolkit and the development of the Solid Arts 
website. The Department also supported the Indigenous Art 
Code to ensure Indigenous enterprises can protect their 
intellectual property. To date, 21 WA galleries, dealers and 
museums have signed the Code. In the 2011/2012 financial 
year, the Solid Arts website received 3,708 unique hits and 
10,975 unique page views. 

 Partnering with EPRA (now Metropolitan Redevelopment 
Authority) to develop and activate the Perth Cultural Centre. 
DCA contributed $300,000 towards the Non-Permanent and 
Ephemeral Public Art Project, which reached an estimated 
audience of 1.4 million people. In addition to this support, 
DCA partnered with EPRA to support Illuminites, a free 
Christmas celebration, which was attended by 10,000 
people; the Popsicle and Outskirts programs as part of 
Perth Fashion Festival, which attracted more than 35,000 
people; and The People's Space during CHOGM in 2011, 
which had an attendance of more than 23,000. 

 Installing the winning sculpture of the $1 million 
international sculpture competition by renowned artist 
James Angus in Forrest Place.  The sculpture titled Grow 
Your Own is a conceptually sophisticated approach to the 
space and celebrates the energy of a growing and evolving 

city. It was handed over to the City of Perth in September 
2011 for perpetuity. 

 About 33,000 Western Australians and CHOGM delegates 
attended the Yiwarra Kuju – The Canning Stock Route 
exhibition at the Perth Convention and Exhibition Centre 
during and after CHOGM 2011. The Department invested 
more than $900,000 over five years in the Canning Stock 
Route Project.  Yiwarra Kuju was co-presented by FORM 
and the National Museum of Australia (with assistance from 
the WA Museum).  

 Implementing new governance structures for the 
Department’s Information Services via Portfolio agency-
specific steering committees and a whole of Portfolio 
Information and Communication Technology (ICT) steering 
committee.  These will help address whole of Portfolio 
business challenges, including ICT policy and funding 
leading to more effective strategy and delivery. 

 Developing a five-year Portfolio strategic workforce plan 
with consultations from December 2011 to April 2012, 
assisted by the Australian Institute of Management and The 
University of Western Australia.  

 The State Records Office (SRO) published a fully revised 
General Disposal Authority for Human Resource 
Management Records (GDA).  This GDA will assist all State 
Government agencies with the legal disposal of human 
resource records. The GDA is accessible on the SRO’s 
website, and is also available for purchase in Word and 
Excel formats.  

 Five Sector Disposal Authorities (SDAs), encompassing the 
legal disposal of records maintained by 33 government 
organisations, were developed this year by the SRO. 
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 SRO delivered a range of public 
programs promoting the value of the 
State archives collection.  The 
highlight of these was Eating the 
Archives, an alfresco lunch held in 
the Perth Cultural Centre as part of 
the Commonwealth Festival, which 
was staged alongside CHOGM 2011.  
Local celebrities and other guests, 
selected via a public lottery, enjoyed 
a feast based on menus from the 
State archives collection and 
prepared by chef Hadleigh Troy. 
Another innovative strategy was the 
City of Light program in February 
which involved a direct link with the 
International Space Station to 
celebrate the 50th anniversary of 
John Glenn’s space flight over Perth. 

 In the 2012 State Budget the 
Government announced its 
commitment to a new museum at the 
WA Museum’s Perth site.  This 
important development is the result of 
the Department of Culture and the 
Arts, the WA Museum and the 
Department of Treasury (Strategic 
Projects) working together on a 
comprehensive business case.  The 
new museum will contribute 
significantly to the activation of the 
Perth Cultural Centre.  The funding 
commitment includes upgrades to the 
Museum’s Collections and Research 
Centre in Welshpool 

 
 

Open your Eyes, Country Arts WA.  Photo by James Thompson. 
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Valuing arts and culture 

The following information, which profiles Western Australians’ 
attitudes to arts and culture, was obtained from a survey 
conducted in May 2012.  The survey asked people in metropolitan 
and regional WA to respond to a series of statements relating to 
the role and importance of the arts in relation to their own lives and 
the lives of the greater community.  

Public attitudes to culture and the arts 
The survey results indicate that Western Australians have a very 
positive attitude towards the arts and appreciate the substantial 
value arts and culture delivers to the WA community:  

 95 per cent of respondents think it is important for school 
children to be able to learn music, painting, writing, drama 
and other art forms as part of their education 

 81 per cent feel the arts play an important role in helping us 
understand our own culture and way of life and that of 
others 

 79 per cent believe the State Government should invest in 
arts and cultural activities to ensure they are available to the 
public 

 77 per cent feel the arts help those who participate, as well 
as the broader community 

 75 per cent consider all theatres, opera, ballet companies 
and public art galleries should not be made to survive on 
their ticket sales alone 

 73 per cent believe the arts make them feel good 
 61 per cent believe the arts help them connect with and feel 

part of their community. 

   

‘Emergent’ by Daniel Eaton.  Architects: Elisabeth Guj, JCY 

Architects and Urban Designers.  Photo by the artist. 
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Cultural participation  
The Australian Bureau of Statistics (ABS) published the 
‘Participation in Selected Cultural Activities Survey’ in February 
2012.  The survey was conducted from July 2010 to June 2011 as 
part of the ‘Multipurpose Household Survey’.  The following 
information summarises the rate of cultural participation in 
Australia and WA. 
Cultural participation is a selected creative activity in which a 
person has participated.  It is what people do creatively 
themselves, rather than attendance at creative events.  This 
excludes activities carried out for secondary or tertiary studies or 
activities with no creative aspect, such as mending and repairing 
clothes.   
Creative activity in WA is comparable with other states and 
territories, with 26 per cent of Western Australians participating in 
selected cultural activities.  Participation rates between the states 
and territories ranged between 25 per cent and 27 per cent. 
In WA, textile, crafts and jewellery making were the most 
participated activities with 8.7 per cent of people taking part in 
these activities in the 12 months before interview, while 7.5 per 
cent creatively participated in the activities of sculpting, painting 
and drawing.  
The WA participation rate for dancing was 4.1 per cent, which is 
higher than the Australian average of 3.7 per cent.  
Right is a summary of the cultural participation rates for selected 
cultural activities in WA and Australia during 2010-11. 
 
 
 

Participation rates for selected cultural activities, 2010-11 (a) (b) 

 
(a) In the 12 months before interview 
(b) Persons aged 15 years and over 
* Australia average % incudes WA figures 

Source: ABS 

“The Government is committed to providing arts 

and cultural activities for people in regional and 

remote areas of WA.” 
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Operational Structure 

The Department of the Arts was established under the Public 
Service Act 1978 on July 1, 1986 subsequent to the repeal of the 
Western Australian Arts Council Act 1973.  On May 20, 1997 the 
name was changed to the Ministry of Culture and the Arts under 
the Public Sector Management Act 1994.  On July 1, 2001 the 
name was re-designated to Department of Culture and the Arts 
under Section 35 of the Public Sector Management Act 1994 as a 
result of the Machinery of Government Review. 

The Department operates under the provisions of the Public Sector 
Management Act 1994.  In the performance of its functions, the 
Department complies with all relevant written laws. 
The Department leads in linking the Culture and the Arts Portfolio 
to the Government’s framework and also provides subsidy and 
some administrative support to The Bell Tower, which is managed 
by the Swan Bells Foundation.  The portfolio organisations and 
The Bell Tower have a statutory requirement to produce separate 
annual reports. 
The Minister for Culture and the Arts administers the following Acts 
relating to the statutory authorities within the portfolio: 

 Art Gallery Act 1959 

 Library Board of Western Australia Act 1951 

 Museum Act 1969 

 Perth Theatre Trust Act 1979. 

  
Crystal Stacey, Madalyn bin Swani and Therese Pigram, Marrugeku.  
Photo by Rod Hartvigsen. 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 16 

Mentorship – Salt Pile.  Transition by Sascha Brag for Country Arts 
WA Emerging Mentorship.  Photo Nicole Yardley. 

The Department is led by the Director General and supported by 
the functions of the following areas: 

Office of the Director General 
The Office of the Director General comprises the Corporate Affairs, 
Audit and Review, Ministerial Liaison, and Government Relations 
areas.  These areas provide support to the Director General and 
take primary responsibility for liaison with the Minister for Culture 
and the Arts and on cross-government matters.  This section is led 
by the Director General, Allanah Lucas. 

Development and Strategy Directorate 
The Development and Strategy Directorate, led by Deputy Director 
General Jacqui Allen, works with a range of stakeholders to 
coordinate arts and cultural policy development, distribution of 
funding, implementation of State and national strategic arts and 
cultural programs and specialised research.  It also provides a link 
between the State Government, the arts and cultural sector and 
the community. 

General Operations Directorate 
The General Operations Directorate is led by Executive Director 
Eric Isailovic and provides general corporate services for the 
Department and alignment with Government systems for portfolio 
organisations.  This includes organisational performance, finance, 
human resources, information services, property development and 
management services. 

State Records Office 
The State Records Office, led by Senior Archivist and Executive 
Director Cathrin Cassarchis, is responsible for the administration of 
the State Records Act 2000 which regulates whole-of-government 
recordkeeping and the management of the State archives 
collection.  It supports the State Records Commission in the 
development of a regulatory framework for the implementation of 
this Act, as well as providing consultancy, advice and training to 
State and local government organisations on compliance.  The 
SRO also provides public access to unrestricted archives in the 
State archives collection. 
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Organisational chart 
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Performance Management Framework
Government 
Goal 

Desired Outcomes Services 

 
 
 
 
Greater focus 
on achieving 
results in key 
service areas 
for the benefit 
of all Western 
Australians 
 

Outcome 1: 
A creative, 
sustainable and 
accessible culture 
and arts sector 

 Arts Industry 
Support 

 Screen Production 
Industry Support 

 Venue 
Management 
Services 

Outcome 2: 
Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary 
collections are 
preserved, 
accessible and 
sustainable 

 Art Gallery 
Services 

 Library and 
Information 
Services 

 Museum Services 
 Government 

Recordkeeping 
and Archival 
Services 

The Portfolio’s services are delivered by the Department (including 
the State Records Office) and the five Portfolio organisations. 
Responsibilities for the provision of services are as follows: 

Portfolio Service Service Provider 

 Arts Industry Support Department of Culture and 
the Arts 

 Screen Production Industry 
Support 

ScreenWest 

 Venue Management Services Perth Theatre Trust 

 Art Gallery Services Art Gallery of Western 
Australia 

 Library and Information 
Services 

State Library of Western 
Australia 

 Museum Services Western Australian 
Museum 

 Government Recordkeeping 
and Archival Services 

State Records Office 
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Agency performance 
Department of Culture and the 
Arts 
The Department of Culture and the Arts operates in a rapidly 
shifting environment and is sensitive to the needs of the global 
economy and evolving technologies as well as the community’s 
changing expectations about the ways it wants to engage with the 
culture and the arts sector. 

In 2009 the Department refreshed its vision and strategic 
directions to reflect these new opportunities and challenges.  Its 
renewed vision is to provide all Western Australians with unique 
and transforming culture and arts experiences that connect them 
with their history and culture and enable them to share their 
experiences and stories. 
The strategic plan for 2010-2014 Creating and Delivering 
Government Policy for Culture and the Arts identifies the key 
drivers of the Department’s success in this regard: 

 the effective management of knowledge systems 

 the delivery of public value for arts and culture investments 

 a clearer articulation of the way the Department engages 
with a wide range of stakeholders to achieve its goals 

 a broadening of its approach to infrastructure provision to 
take advantage of the opportunities for increased public 
access offered by new technologies. 

While providing a strengthened focus for the Department’s 
activities, the strategic plan continues to support the outcomes that 
the Department had previously agreed to deliver for the State 
Government, namely: 

 a creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts 
sector 

 Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are managed, conserved and accessible. 

There have consequently been no changes to the key 
performance indicators. 
The SRO has its own strategic plan which reflects its whole-of-
government functions under the State Records Act 2000.  
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Strategic objective 1:  
The Depar tmen t  i s  an  o rgan isa t i on  where  the  e f fec t i ve  management  o f  knowledge  
i s  essent ia l  to  ou r  bus iness

The Department relies on a large number of knowledge assets 
which are essential to delivering its services. Processes, systems 
and behaviours for more effectively retaining and sharing these 
vital knowledge assets are essential to the Department in 
achieving its vision and providing efficient and effective services. 

Fund ing  Process Review 

Stage One of the Department’s Funding Process Review began in 
2010 and considered how the Department could respond to the 
evolution of both the sector and the community through its funding 
activities.   
Stage One examined the efficiency of DCA’s funding process and 
recommendations and this included an Online Grants 
Management System.  The tender for this system has been issued 
and assessment is in process.   
Stage Two of the Funding Process Review was to develop a 
framework intended to better measure the public value created 
through the Department’s delivery of policy, research, funding, 
services and support.  In 2011, the Department engaged 
consultants to develop a Public Value Measurement Framework, 
which was delivered in April 2012.  The Department plans to begin 
implementation of the Framework in 2012/13.  
Throughout 2011/2012 the Department undertook consultations 
within WA, nationally and internationally to benchmark this work. 
In addition, the theoretical framework was presented to academics 
and policy makers at the Making Culture Count Conference held in 
Melbourne in May 2012. 

Pro jec t  Management  Framework  

The Project Management Framework (PMF) is in its third year of 
operation and continues to ensure that new services and products 
are approved, planned and monitored in a consistent and effective 
manner, in line with strategic objectives and priorities.  The PMF 
intranet site, which provides staff with project templates and other 
management tools and resources, continued to be refined 
throughout the year. 
A Project Register records and monitors existing projects for 
continuous improvement and is updated monthly by project 
managers.  The Department had 61 projects in operation 
throughout the 2011/12 financial year and therefore keeping them 
on track and delivering benefits is a critical part of the PMF. 
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Planning and Budget ing  

Framework  

The Department’s Planning and 
Budgeting Framework was implemented 
in June 2011 and was used for its first 
strategic planning process in 2011/12. 
Progress towards achievement of 
strategic objectives and operational plans 
has been monitored via a quarterly 
reporting process to the Executive 
Leadership Team. 
Effective strategic planning has assisted 
staff to work towards the Department’s 
strategic objectives and to identify 
priorities and resources more realistically. 

Knowledge Management  

S t rategy  

The first annual review of the 
Department’s Knowledge Management 
(KM) Strategy, which was launched by the 
Director General in May 2011, was 
submitted to and endorsed by the 
Executive Leadership Team in April 2012.  
The review identified that the DCA has 
progressed its KM strategy.  

 

 
 
  

Sandra Umbagai, Kelton Pell, Trevor Ryan, Kristin Andrews, Kevin Spratt and 
Emmanuel Brown, Jandamara.  Photo by Matt Scurfield. 
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Strategic objective 2:  
Depar tment  ac t i v i t i es  a re  a l i gned w i th  a  pub l i c  va lue  f ramework  

At the heart of the Department’s vision is the goal of enriching the 
arts and cultural experiences of the WA community.  Value is 
gained through the unique and transforming qualities of these 
experiences, leading to engaged citizens and the delivery of both 
economic and social benefits to the State. 

The Department launched its policy framework, Creating Value: 
An Arts and Culture Sector Policy Framework 2010-2014, in 
March 2010.  This document outlines the Department’s principles, 
outcomes and strategies to deliver value to the community.  

Publ ic  Va lue  Measurement  Framework  

The Department commissioned Perth-based Pracsys and John 
Knell of the Intelligence Agency (UK) to develop this work further 
into a fully defined framework outlining a range of measures to 
capture the various dimensions of value created through arts and 
culture activity.  The aim of the framework is to measure the 
quality, reach, impact and value the WA community experiences 
through the government’s support of arts and cultural activity. 
This development has included significant consultation with 
individuals and organisations in the arts and culture sector as well 
as a national and international benchmarking exercise to test the 
validity of the framework in a broader context. 
The framework has received strong support and endorsement 
from a number of leading academics in this area, from arts 
agencies in other jurisdictions and from benchmarking agencies 
including the Arts Council England.  
The Department has received the draft framework from the 
consultants and has begun the process of planning further 

modeling, testing and sector consultation prior to implementation 
in 2012/13.  

Sector  funding and suppor t   

The Department provided funding to support a range of 
organisations and individuals throughout the year, as summarised 
below.  

Peer and exper t  pane ls  

During 2011/2012, funding of $5,288,445 was provided to 303 
organisations, individuals and projects.   Distribution was as 
follows: 

 Creative Development fellowships - $120,000 across two 
recipients  

 Dance - $214,200 across seven recipients 

 Multi arts - $99,350 across three recipients 

 Music - $89,666 across five recipients 

 Theatre - $359,845 across ten recipients 

 Visual arts - $377,788 across 16 recipients 

 Visual Arts and Crafts Mid-Career Fellowships - $50,000 
across two recipients 

 Writing - $185,289 across seven recipients 

 Young People and the Arts, including Quick Response, 
Youth Fellowships and Scholarships - $328,666 across 37 
recipients  
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 Indigenous Arts Panel - $203,542 across 14 recipients 

 Contemporary Music, including Quick Response - 
$404,478 across 51 recipients  

 Designer Fashion, including Fashion Flight - $240,322 
across 29 recipients   

 Artflight - $245,550 across 85 recipients 

 Artist in Residence Initiative - $100,000 to one recipient 

 Community Collections funding - $131,340 to five 
recipients 

 Ignite commitments - $269,705 

 Looking Forward (Ignite) - $1,081,058 over six recipients  

 Partnership and Policy Initiatives - $787,646  

Recurrent  funded organ isa t ions  and ac t iv i t ies  

The Lotteries Commission Act provides that five per cent of net 
subscriptions go to the Arts Lotteries Account, providing essential 
support through which Western Australians can experience 
unique and transforming arts and culture experiences.  A total of 
49 cultural and arts organisations that operate in the theatre, 
dance, visual arts, craft, writing and music sectors received 
support.  
During the 2011/2012 year $17,330,191 was provided as core 
recurrent funding to 49 organisations for the operational and 
artistic costs of delivering an agreed level of service.  This figure 
included indexation of 2.2 per cent.  Of this funding $6,795,135 
(39 per cent) was provided to the major performing arts 
companies:  

Major Performing Arts Company Funding 
Granted 

West Australian Opera  $1,777,002 
West Australian Symphony Orchestra $2,089,870 
Black Swan State Theatre Company $1,327,425 
West Australian Ballet $1,600,838 

Total  $6,795,135 
In April 2012 the West Australian Ballet relocated to its new 
premises in Maylands. The Department has provided an 
additional $1.2 million per annum since 2009 to support the West 
Australian Ballet’s business model which has driven increases in 
box office revenue and international recognition.  In addition, DCA 
has provided orchestral support funds available for the Ballet’s 
fourth season each year. 
The West Australian Symphony Orchestra received $99,849 
under the Orchestra Review Funding designed to improve artistic 
standards and maintain orchestra sizes.  An additional $165,000 
was allocated to offset rehearsal costs at the Perth Concert Hall. 
The West Australian Opera Company and Black Swan State 
Theatre Company received a total of $331,388 for their 2012 
regional touring programs.  
ThinIce Productions Limited (a multi-year funded company), in 
collaboration with West Australian Opera, was funded $410,000 
from the Department’s Major Production Fund towards the 
production of a new Australian interpretation of Richard Strauss' 
Elektra, which opened the 2012 season to critical acclaim.
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Fund ing  h igh l i gh ts  by  a r t fo rm  

Contemporary  mus ic  

Core recurrent funding of $326,546 was provided to the WA Music 
Industry Association Inc for peak body services to the sector, 
while the Contemporary Music Grants Program continued to 
assist musicians and music businesses to access commercial 
markets for their products, to develop skills and infrastructure and 
build new audiences for WA music.  This year, the program 
supported 51 projects to a total of $404,478.   
Highlights included: 

 R&B/Soul artist, Shameem Taheri-Lee, received $10,370 
to tour to the North-West of WA with her band.  While 
touring the region, the group conducted community 
workshops which were well received. 

 The Glyn MacDonald Group received $5,451 through the 
Contemporary Music Quick Response Program to perform 
at the 2011 Beijing Ninegates International Jazz Festival, 
China.  The group successfully promoted WA jazz at the 
festival and established positive relationships with the 
Beijing jazz sector. 

A new funding initiative was introduced through the Contemporary 
Music Quick Response Program to support artists invited to 
showcase at Bigsound, Brisbane.  A provision was made to 
enable invitees to apply for up to $5,000 to assist with attendance 
at the event.  Split Seconds, The Novocaines and San Cisco all 
received support. 

 

Des igner  fash ion  

The Department continued to support designer fashion through 
the Designer Fashion Grants Program that distributed a total of 
$240,322 to 29 projects in 2011/2012 as well as providing funding 
to the annual Perth Fashion Festival.  
Highlights of this sector-building funding included: 

 The Designer Fashion Panel supported an initiative which 
enabled four WA designers to showcase and market their 
Spring/Summer collections during the 2011 L’Oreal 
Melbourne Fashion Festival held in Melbourne from 8-15 
March 2011.  

 The Designer Fashion Grants Program has provided 
support for designers to undertake international market 
development in Italy, France, USA (New York and Miami), 
China, Hong Kong, Singapore, Malaysia, Indonesia and 
New Zealand. 

 The 2011/2012 State Budget committed $1 million to the 
Perth Fashion Festival over a four-year period (2011-14), 
through the Department, to support programs that promote 
the growing WA fashion industry.  A total of $250,000 was 
provided for the 2011 Perth Fashion Festival, enabling a 
total of 166 WA fashion designers to showcase and 
promote their collections to a total of 47,090 attendees.  
The 2011 event received a total of $31,856,435 in media 
coverage. 
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Per forming Ar ts  

Core recurrent funding was provided to 10 performing arts 
companies:  

Ausdance WA $172,681 Dance 
Deckchair Theatre $306,563 Theatre 
Performing Arts Centre Society  
(The Blue Room) 

$233,958 Theatre 

Perth Theatre Company $467,029 Theatre 
Perth Jazz Society $25,148 Music 
Jazz WA (Jazz Coordination 
Association of WA) 

$62,271 Music 

Stages $76,641 Theatre 
STRUT Dance $127,085 Dance 
ThinIce Contemporary Theatre 
Company 

$48,376 Theatre 

Tura New Music $240,801 Music 

Total  $1,760,553  
 
The Department also provided a total of $600,711 funding to 20 
performing arts organisations and individuals through the Arts 
Development Panel and $48,595 to 17 performing recipients 
through the Artflight Panel.  This included support for nine 
individuals to attend the Australian Theatre Forum in September 
2011. 

Highlights included: 

 Hosting of the Performing Arts WA booth and $45,670 
support for nine individuals and organisations to attend and 
showcase at the 2012 Australian Performing Arts Market in 
Adelaide.  This was the highest WA representation ever 
achieved at this important international showcasing event, 
including spotlight performances by Yirra Yaakin of 
Waltzing the Wilarra and Humphrey Bowers’ award-
winning theatre work, Wish. 

 In addition to core recurrent funding, Ausdance WA and 
STRUT Dance were awarded grants of $300,000 and 
$220,000 respectively to deliver on key recommendations 
made in the 2007 Future Moves report.   

 The Department renegotiated a further three-year 
partnership agreement with the Australia Council for the 
Arts, Theatre and Dance Boards to support Performing 
Lines WA through the Managing and Producing Services 
(MAPS) initiative.  Funding for this initiative is $120,000 
from the Department and $50,000 from the Australia 
Council for the Arts per annum. 

 The Department also awarded annual funding of $69,900 
to Theatre Kimberley to deliver its annual program of circus 
and performance development in Broome and across the 
Kimberley region, and the Australian Script Centre received 
$12,000 for its annual program of activities. 

Visual  Ar ts  and Cra f t  

The Department continued to support visual arts and craft through 
the provision of recurrent core funding and the support of 45 
organisations and individuals. Recurrent core funding was 
provided to five visual arts organisations to the value of 
$1,317,133: 
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Art On The Move  $436,337 
Artsource $403,686 
Arts Law $5,295 
Form    $275,428 
International Art Space Kellerberrin $196,387 

Total $1,317,133 
 
Through the Arts Development Panel 16 additional organisations 
and individuals received funding totalling $377,788 for various 
activities including annual programs, development of new work 
and presentation opportunities.  A further $38,069 was provided to 
14 individuals through the Artflight Panel to assist with travel 
costs. 
Highlights included: 

 Provision of two Visual Arts and Craft Mid-Career 
Fellowship grants of $25,000 to Olga Cironis and Heather 
Claire Beausein; and two Creative Development 
Fellowships of $60,000 to Jasmine Stephens and David 
Carson. 

 Funding of $15,000 provided through the Emerging 
Curators Program for costs associated with the Venice 
Biennale in 2013; and $10,000 was awarded to Sarah 
Sandler to undertake a curatorial training program at the 
Ecole du Magasin in France culminating in an exhibition. 

 $40,000 to provide international residencies to WA artists 
through Asialink. 

Wri t ing  

In 2011/2012 the Department provided $635,217 in funding for 
writing.  This included core recurrent funding of $437,232 to three 
WA writing organisations:  

Fremantle Arts Centre Press $291,893 
Australian Writers' Guild $15,089 
Writing WA $130,250 

Total $437,232 
 
In addition, the Arts Development Panel provided a total of 
$185,289 to seven organisations and individuals to support 
publishing, development of new work and sector development 
opportunities.  This included: 

 $43,500 to The University of WA’s Westerly Centre to 
publish two issues of the Westerly literary journal. 

 $36,749 to the Fellowship of Australian Writers (WA) to 
deliver an annual program of manuscript assessment and 
youth writing sessions.  

 $31,640 to Katharine Susannah Prichard Writers' Centre 
to deliver their annual program of activities for young, 
emerging and established writers. 

 Author Christopher Kenworthy received $14,800 to 
develop his third novel. 

 Dr Simone Lazaroo received $25,000 to develop a series 
of new short stories to draft stage.   

 Five writers were supported through the Artflight program 
to assist with travel costs to the value of $12,696.  
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Ind igenous Ar ts   

The Department provided core recurrent funding to four 
Indigenous organisations to the value of $675,118: 

Magabala Books $215,552 
Yirra Yaakin Noongar Theatre $305,066 
Goolarri Media $77,310 
Kimberley Aboriginal Law & Culture Centre $77,190 

Total $675,118 
 
Throughout the year, the Indigenous Arts Panel provided 
$203,542 to 14 organisations and individuals.  
The Department’s Indigenous Arts Grants Program supported arts 
and cultural activities including art form development, cultural 
maintenance and interstate and international touring to 
organisations, small groups and individuals. Over half of this 
investment was made in either regional or remote areas.  

The Australian Performing Arts Market (APAM) 
In 2012, APAM had the highest number of Indigenous 
performances showcased since its inception including three from 
WA.  Dalisa Pigram’s new solo work Gudirr Gudirr produced by 
Marrugeku, David Milroy’s Waltzing the Wilarra produced by Yirra 
Yaakin and  Binjareb Pinjarra by the Pinjarra Project.   

Indigenous Contemporary Music 
The Department implemented several recommendations from the 
Indigenous Contemporary Music Review.  This included a 
mentorship program, seed funding towards the development of a 
music camp in Broome and convening the Perth meeting of the 
Indigenous Contemporary Music Focus Group in May 2012.  The 
total allocation for these strategic initiatives was $42,000.  

Indigenous Arts and Culture Action Plan 2012-14  
The Department launched the Indigenous Arts and Culture Action 
Plan 2012-14 in May 2012.  The plan includes commitments to 
skills development, contemporary music, arts infrastructure and 
key events.  The Department will partner with a range of 
government and non-government agencies to deliver its action 
plan.   

Young Peop le and the  Ar ts  

The Department provided funding to encourage young people to 
participate in and explore a broad range of arts and cultural 
activities.  Core recurrent funding was provided to 13 performing 
arts companies with a youth focus, including:  

Buzz Dance Theatre  $294,828 

STEPS Youth Dance Company $109,291 

Awesome Festival $197,247 

Propelarts $125,483 

Southern Edge Arts $74,134 

WA Youth Music $179,627 

Musica Viva $29,938 

WA Youth Jazz Orchestra $52,952 

Barking Gecko $423,920 

Spare Parts Puppet Theatre $395,658 

WA Youth Theatre Company $79,668 

Children's Book Council $31,772 

Fremantle Children’s Literature Centre $41,927 

Total $2,036,445 
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The Department’s Young People and the Arts Grants Program 
supports arts activities by, with and for young people aged 26 
years and under.  During the year the DCA provided funding 
totaling $249,774 in support of 20 activities, and supported 13 
applicants to take advantage of career-building opportunities 
through its Quick Response Program (to a total of $25,467). 
The $30,000 annual Young People and the Arts International 
Scholarship was awarded to Caitlin Maling to complete a Masters 
of Fine Arts in Poetry at the University of Houston, USA.  Two 
$15,000 Young People and the Arts Fellowships were awarded to 
Caitlin Yardley to complete a two-month Associate Artist 
Residency with ACME Studios in London and Gita Bezard to work 
with Pig Iron Theatre Company in Philadelphia and Tmesis 
Theatre Company in Liverpool, UK. 
The Department also contributed $8,730 through a special travel 
initiative to encourage young people to attend the 2011 ‘Open 
Your Eyes’ Country Arts WA Regional Conference in Geraldton.  
More than 50 guests also attended the launch of the Young 
People and the Arts Regional Skills Development and Mentoring 
project. 

Disab i l i ty  and the  Ar ts  

Disadvantage in the Arts WA (DADAA) is the State’s peak 
organisation in the area of disability and the arts and has a 
regional focus in the Kimberley and Esperance.  

Disability in the Arts, Disadvantage 
in the Arts WA 

$116,979 

The Department also supported DADAA through funding for an 
emerging curator project ($10,000) and for the hosting of the 
National Arts and Health Conference in 2012 ($40,000).  

The department continues to receive applications from artists with 
disabilities to the Department’s mainstream funding programs.  
Successful applicants to date include: 

 The Department provided $5,000 to visual artist David Guhl 
to travel to New York to exhibit a body of work at the 
International Alexander’s Angels Downright Art Exhibition 
and visit the Museum of Modern Art. 

 Through Artflight, regionally based Indigenous multi 
media/film artist Aquinas Crowe was supported to attend 
the AFI Awards in Sydney ($2,100). 

 The Department provided $4,878 to two members of 
Sensorium, a sensory theatre group, to travel to the UK to 
work and train with two leading companies, which 
specialise in sensory theatre for young people with 
disabilities. 

Regiona l  and Communi ty  Ar ts   

The Department provided core recurrent funding to three regional 
and community membership and service organisations to the total 
value of $806,763: 

Community Arts Network WA Inc $168,729  
Country Arts (WA) Inc $463,676  
Kulcha Multicultural Arts of WA Inc $174,358  

Total $806,763 
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Look ing  Forward Fund  

 The purpose of the Looking Forward Fund is to encourage 
and stimulate strong and diverse regional arts and cultural 
outcomes which lead to social and economic benefits for 
communities and artists.  Applications to the fund were 
made through a two-stage process comprising an 
expression of interest and a second stage full proposal.  
Over $1 million ($1,080,058) was awarded to regional and 
remote communities, organisations and artists including: 

 $258,000 to Theatre Kimberley to develop the Sandfly 
Circus Remote Outreach program to deliver circus and 
dance development to remote Kimberley communities. 

 $257,093 to Country Arts WA for the Gascoyne in May 
initiative that will see the four Shires of the Gascoyne 
partner with the region’s festivals to develop a world class 
festival circuit in 2013 and 2014.  

 $234,965 to the Association of Northern, Kimberley and 
Arnhem Aboriginal Artists (ANKAAA) to support WA artists 
to take part in an Arts Worker Extension Program for high 
achieving Indigenous arts workers. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Contempora ry  in te rd is c ip l ina ry  and  mu l t i  a r t s  

During the year, the Department further implemented its plan to 
support new forms of creative work, through the funding of a 
number of interdisciplinary arts programs.  Core funding was 
provided to: 

Artrage $323,376 
Fremantle Arts Centre $664,020 
PICA $664,379 

Total $1,651,775 
 
Some of the projects receiving support this year included: 

 New media artist, David Carson, was awarded a Creative 
Development Fellowship of $60,000 to undertake research 
and development that will explore the physical and cultural 
factors that have shaped WA’s plant diversity. 

 The Department entered its second year of a three-year 
agreement with PVI Collective ($65,000 per annum) to run 
CIA Studios in Newcastle Street, Perth, providing artists 
with the opportunity to share skills, engage in critical peer 
support and create new.  

 Through the Arts Development Panel, several 
interdisciplinary projects where supported.  Notably, 
Symbiotica received $23,600 to bring together artists to 
work collaboratively on the ‘Semipermeable’ project. 
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Devo lved  Fund ing  

The Department contracts a number of non-government 
organisations to manage the allocation and distribution of funding 
on its behalf since the Department does not deliver direct 
services.  The objectives are to ensure the optimal use of funding 
to deliver the best arts development outcomes through the most 
applicable organisational structure.  Devolvement aims to build 
the managerial capacity of organisations and ensures that 
relevant community services are delivered through consistent, 
accountable, equitable and accessible processes. 
All devolved funding programs received a 30 per cent increase in 
the final year of the former Ignite package.  

Communi ty  Ar ts  Network WA  

Community Arts Network manages the Catalyst Community Arts 
Fund which supports projects that express local culture and 
identity and promote the values of community empowerment, 
social inclusion, respect for diversity and self-determination.  A 
total of $266,821 is allocated annually to this program. 
The Creative Networks Fund is designed to support local regional 
government authorities to develop their capacity to use art and 
culture to improve the lives of their citizens.  The grants provide 
skills development, mentoring and networking with intensive 
training.  A total of $90,962 is allocated annually to this program. 
 

CANWA Devolved Funds – Catalyst $266,821 

CANWA Devolved Funds – Regional $90,962 

Country  Ar ts  WA  

Country Arts WA provides annual funding to regional arts councils 
and organisations to coordinate diverse arts and cultural activities.  
In addition, it delivers the ‘Shows on the Go’ program that 
subsidises professional performing arts to regional and remote 
WA as well as ‘Sand Tracks’, a remote Indigenous contemporary 
music touring initiative.  
The Department provides $783,864 for these programs: 

Country Arts devolved Category "A" Arts $188,864  
Country Arts devolved Arts Councils $130,000  
Country Arts devolved Performing Arts Touring $440,000  
Country Arts Contemporary Music Touring $25,000  

Total $783,864 

L i tera ture Tour ing  Program  

Writing WA receives $17,000 in devolved funding for its regional 
program.  In 2011, 6,761 people attended regional literary events, 
in 13 regional communities throughout WA, and 43 WA 
authors/illustrators engaged in the delivery of these programs. 
An additional $8,000 is devolved to the Children’s Book Council, 
which celebrates Australian children’s literature and its creators, 
and seeks to engage the community with literature for young 
Australians. 
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Col lec t ions  sec to r  

Communi ty  Co l lec t ions  

The Department provided core recurrent 
funding of $81,760 to Museums Australia 
(WA) and $44,153 to the Royal Western 
Australian Historical Society in 2011/2012.   
In addition, the Community Collections 
funding program ‘Connect’ provided 
$91,340 to support innovative public 
programs and artist residencies to engage 
diverse communities with collections.   

Col lec t ionsCare  

The Department provided $120,000 for the 
second year of the CollectionsCare 
Goldfields Hub project.  This is a two-year 
national demonstration project delivered in 
partnership with the City of Kalgoorlie-
Boulder. 
The project has improved access to and 
care of the Goldfields rich collections sector 
and injected a high level of collections 
expertise into the region.  Due to the 
positive impact of the project, the 
Department has committed funding for 
continuation of the CollectionsCare Hub for 
the 2012/13 financial year.

 

 
 
 

 

One Starry Night, West Australian Ballet.  Photo by Aaron Bunch. 
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Strategic objective 3:  
The Depar tmen t ’s  ro le  i n  de l i ve r ing  cu l tu re  and a r ts  po l i cy  w i l l  be  s t reng thened  by  
c lea r  re la t i onsh ips  w i th  a l l  s takeho lde rs  

The Department exists within a complex system of relationships 
that impact upon its role and influence on government arts and 
culture policy development.  By clarifying and strengthening 
relationships with stakeholders, the Department will be maintaining 
its leadership of State arts and culture policy and funding. 

The Department exists within a complex system of relationships 
that impact on its role as government’s agency for arts and culture 
policy development.  The Department does not provide direct 
services and thereby depends on a large number of non-
government organisations to deliver arts and culture.  By clarifying 
and strengthening relationships with stakeholders, the Department 
will be maintaining its leadership in State arts and culture policy 
and funding. 

Pub l i c  v a lue  

The Department continued its ongoing discussions on the 
centrality of public value in its policy and program delivery.  This is 
being done through the development of the public value 
measurement framework and the development and release of 
sector action plans for the Young People and the Arts and the 
Indigenous Arts program areas. 

 

S t reng then ing  ne tworks  a nd  
knowledge -shar ing  ac t i v i t i es  

Circu i tWest  

The Department is currently supporting CircuitWest (the 
Association of Regional Performing Arts Centres) through a 
partnership initiative. A new initiative was the WA Regional 
Technicians Symposium (WARTS) which was held at the 
Mandurah Performing Arts Centre in 2012 and the next will be in 
February 2013.  The WARTS network and annual symposium has 
been developed to reduce isolation and offer skills and 
professional development opportunities to regionally based 
technicians. 

Journa l i s t  Program  

In August 2011, the Department conducted its 13th annual 
journalist program in association with The West Australian.  The 
program aims to introduce new journalists to arts and culture in 
WA and establish effective working relationships between the 
Department, the sector and the local media. Four journalists 
participated in the 2011 program and spent one day learning about 
the Department and its programs, and the agencies in the 
Portfolio.   



Department of Culture and the Arts | 33 

DCA E-Newsle t te r  

The Department produces a bi-monthly newsletter which is sent 
electronically to more than 700 subscribers.  In the past financial 
year, six issues were distributed. 
Anyone interested in WA arts and culture can subscribe to the 
newsletter through the DCA website.  The e-newsletter features 
articles about events and activities happening across the Portfolio. 

Deve lop ing  par tne rsh ips  to  b road en 
cu l tu re  and  ar t s  exper iences  

Commonweal th  Fes t iva l  

The Commonwealth Festival, staged alongside CHOGM 2011, 
was held from 23-30 October 2011.  The State Government, 
through the Department and Lotterywest, provided $2.45 million 
towards the festival, which was delivered by the Perth International 
Arts Festival. 
The Department was responsible for managing various contracts 
associated with the festival and undertaking the marketing for two 
key exhibitions, Revealed and Yiwarra Kuju - The Canning Stock 
Route. 
More than 63,000 people attended over the festival period which 
featured more than 70 free events showcasing the spirit and 
diversity of both the Commonwealth and WA.   

Par tnersh ip wi th  the  Depar tment  o f  Reg iona l  

Development  and Lands (DRDL)  

The Department’s partnership with the DRDL delivers increased 
access to the Major Performing Arts Companies in regional WA.  
The $1.2 million partnership provides a subsidy to the West 
Australian Ballet, West Australian Opera, West Australian 
Symphony Orchestra and Black Swan State Theatre Company for 

public performances, workshops and schools program in regional 
communities.  A total of $331,388 was awarded in 2011/2012 to 
Black Swan State Theatre Company to tour Tim Winton’s play 
Signs of Life ($162,608) and the WA Opera to participate in the 
20th Anniversary of the Opera Under the Stars Festival in Broome 
($168,780).  The four-year, cross-government partnership will 
conclude in 2014.  

Young peop le and the  ar ts  

The Department continued to support the interests of young 
people in the arts, participating in the inaugural Thinker in 
Residence initiative with the Commissioner for Children and 
Young People’s office.  The initiative, a two week residency, 
engaged UK guest Paul Collard to discuss and debate the role of 
creativity in the lives of young Western Australians.  The 
Department also contributed to the development of the 
Department for Communities’ Youth Strategic Framework and 
partnered with AWESOME Arts to present guest speakers Simon 
Spain from ArtPLAY in Melbourne, and Robert Brown, University 
of Melbourne, on the topic of engaging children and families in 
artist-led spaces. 

Ind igenous a r ts  

The Department continued to provide support for domestic 
repatriation of Indigenous cultural remains and secret sacred 
objects through an agreement with the Australian Government.  
The Department also continued its collaboration with the 
Commonwealth Office for the Arts and the Department of 
Indigenous Affairs to facilitate infrastructure needs and 
development of art centres across the state.  

Ar ts  in  educat ion  

In December 2011, the Department renewed a Memorandum of 
Understanding (MOU) with the Department of Education for a 
further five years.  The strengthening of this cross-government 
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partnership for an additional two years on top of the usual three 
ensures a continued collaborative approach, as outlined in the 
2010 release of Creative Connections: An Arts in Education 
Partnership Framework 2010-2014, for the development of the 
arts in Western Australian public schools. 
The extension of the MOU until 2016 also gives the partnership’s 
key delivery mechanism, ArtsEdge, scope to extend its reach in 
both the education and arts sectors by providing additional 
professional learning opportunities and the creation of relevant 
resources for educators and artists including redevelopment of the 
ArtsEdge website.  
The third year of a four-year Australian Government pilot, the 
Artist-In-Residence (AIR) Initiative, concluded with another seven 
successful projects funded.  The initiative supports the 
participation of professional artists in public schools and 
universities as artists-in-residence to improve students’ access to 
quality arts-in-education programs.  At 30 June 2012, more than 
$830,000 has been awarded to 21 projects within this initiative. 
The first AIR Initiative case study resource, Something in the AIR, 
showcasing the projects and arts education outcomes of the seven 
projects funded in the 2009-2010 funding year, was published in 
February 2012. 

Publ ic  Ar t  

The State Government’s Percent for Art Scheme encourages 
allocation of up to one percent of the estimated total construction 
cost of each State capital works project, valued at $2 million and 
over, to a commissioned WA artwork.  
The partnership between the DCA, and the Department of 
Finance’s Building Management and Works continues to 
strengthen as the collaboration works towards achieving increased 
engagement with the scheme across all government departments, 
and increased participation in the scheme by emerging and 
Indigenous artists. 

The commissioning of public art has a healthy impact on the WA 
economy with projects in urban, regional and remote communities 
throughout the State.  In 2011/2012, 64 public art projects were 
completed with a total of $3,869,887 spent.  
The specifically curated Non-Permanent and Ephemeral Public Art 
Project in the Perth Cultural Centre commissioned 15 projects 
over 325 days with an estimated audience of more than 360,000 
people. The project will culminate in a catalogue. This program 
developed from a relationship between the Department and 
Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority (MRA). 
The Department participated in an aesthetics reference group for 
the new arterial road links for Perth, and developed a public art 
options paper for Elizabeth Quay.  

Offshore  and in te rnat iona l  a ct i v i t ies   

The Department continued to operate under the terms of the 2006-
2010 Service Delivery Arrangement (SDA) with the Australian 
Government’s Department of Regional Development, Local 
Government, Arts and Sport while a new SDA was being finalised.  
The SDA aims to provide the communities of Christmas Island and 
Cocos (Keeling) Islands with services commensurate to those 
delivered to similarly remote WA communities.  The SDA budget 
for the reporting period was $422,625 and covered activities by the 
Department, Country Arts WA, Community Arts Network WA, Art 
On The Move and the Western Australian Museum.  This budget 
includes provisions for performing arts tours in both the current 
and next financial year, to enable sufficient advance planning for 
tours. 
The 2011 year marked the 30th anniversary of sister-state 
relations between Western Australia and Hyogo Prefecture in 
Japan.  The celebrations included a Banshu Textile program 
showcase at the Perth Fashion Festival, and a Textile Exchange 
Project exhibition at the Hyogo Museum of Art in Kobe. 
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In line with the State Government’s desire to strengthen relations 
with Singapore, the Department reopened discussions with 
Singaporean counterparts in early 2012.  In March 2012, the 
Director General was part of the Premier’s trade delegation to 
Singapore and the Department met with government and industry 
representatives in Singapore to explore opportunities for 
collaboration.  Following this, the Department led a delegation to 
observe the Singapore Audi Fashion Festival and also provided 
support for the artistic director of Spare Parts Puppet Theatre 
(SPPT) to travel to Singapore for the season of SPPT’s Hare Brain 
at the ACE! festival. 
The Department provided advice and financial support to ensure 
that the exhibition Two-Generations – 20 Years of Chinese 
Contemporary Art came to Perth as part of Experience China – the 
Year of Chinese Culture in Australia.  The exhibition will open in 
Perth in August 2012. 

Par tnersh ips  across  Government   

The Department maintains a range of partnerships across State 
and the Australian Government to deliver services that effectively 
and efficiently coordinate government resources.  It also provides 
comment on the policy and strategy initiatives of other 
Government departments that may impact on the culture and arts 
sector.  In 2011/2012 the Department had formal Memoranda of 
Understanding with each of the following State and Australian 
Government departments and agencies: 

 Australia Council for the Arts 

 Department of Regional Development and Lands 

 Disability Services Commission 

 Department of Treasury  

 Department of Finance (Building Management and Works) 

 Department of Education 

 Department of Indigenous Affairs 

 Department of Regional Australia, Local Government, Arts 
and Sport, and Office for the Arts  

 Office of Crime Prevention  

 Department of State Development 

 Department of Foreign Affairs and Trade 

 Department of Premier and Cabinet (CHOGM)  

 Central Institute of Technology 

 Metropolitan Redevelopment Authority. 
 

In addition to Memoranda of Understanding, the Department 
works with the following State Government agencies: 

 Public Sector Commission 

 Department of Commerce 

 Department of Treasury 

 Equal Opportunity Commission   

 Insurance Commission of Western Australia. 
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Strategic objective 4:  
The Depar tmen t  w i l l  es tab l i sh  cu l tu re  and  the  a r ts  i n f ras t ruc tu re  po l i cy  w i th  a  
focus  on  the  po ten t i a l  o f  new techno log ies  

Cultural infrastructure is an essential component to the effective 
delivery of culture and arts experiences to the WA community. 
Through its policy development role, the Department aims to make 
cultural infrastructure a key component in culture and arts planning 
throughout the community. New technology will be vital to 
achieving the desired reach of services to the WA community, and 
thereby delivering WA stories and experiences to the world.  

Cul tu ra l  In f ras t ruc ture  D i rec t ions  Pol icy  2012 -

2014 

Research and consultation for a culture and arts infrastructure 
policy, which included a series of focused workshops and surveys 
with a diversity of stakeholders, was undertaken in 2011.  
A resulting draft Cultural Infrastructure Directions Policy 2012-
2014 was prepared in the first quarter of 2012 and key 
stakeholders were consulted on the understanding and application 
of the draft policy throughout the second quarter of 2012.   
This process included testing the policy as part of the DCA 
Strategic Asset Plan 2011 and reviewed by Treasury, as well as 
the arts and cultural portfolio.   
The policy sets out planning principles for the Department and its 
partners for considering investment in people, technology and 
buildings, which together form the cultural infrastructure necessary 
to deliver arts and cultural experiences.  
The policy is planned for release in the third quarter of 2012 and 
will be updated on a regular basis in order to respond to 
contemporary issues and future concerns.  

Capi ta l  Works  

The Department continued to support arts and culture through a 
number of capital works grants in the 2011/12 financial year 
mainly through the one-off Arts Capital Fund:  

 Deckchair Theatre received funding from the Arts Capital 
Fund for the purchase of equipment for their City of 
Fremantle venue, Victoria Hall.  The Department provided 
$239,137 to Deckchair to enable upgrades and the 
purchase of equipment including retractable seating, 
lighting, drapes, modular staging, and sound equipment. 

 The Department provided $500,000 towards the Bunbury 
Regional Art Gallery (BRAG) upgrade.  Extensions to the 
BRAG were officially opened at the end of 2011.  The new 
building incorporates a lift, stairs, storage spaces, 
specialised air conditioning systems and a new foyer 

 The State Government committed $5 million to the Broome 
Shire Council to establish a performing arts and cultural 
centre.  Construction of the Broome Multipurpose Arts and 
Community Venue is well underway and is due for 
completion at the end of 2012.    
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Sta te  Records  Of f i ce  

The State Records Office (SRO) ensures that the State’s history of 
decision-making by government is recorded, stored and made 
available to future generations. This includes the delivery of 
government policy and services to the community. The State’s 
archives document the history of Western Australia from Colonial 
settlement to the present day and are of value to a wide range of 
users including academics, historians, government/corporate 
stakeholders, and individual citizens, all of whom require access to 
reliable sources of information.   
The SRO has a central government role to advise and assist with 
the legal creation, management and disposal of government 
information. This role is established by the State Records Act 
2000. The SRO therefore has its own strategic plan, with 
outcomes measured against its performance in the following 
areas: 

 regulatory role 

 intellectual control of State archives 

 preservation of the State archives collection 

 access and outreach. 
The following information details the SRO’s achievements in 
fulfilling these roles throughout the year. 

Regu la to ry  ro le  

Recordkeep ing  s tandards  

Under section 61 of the State Records Act 2000 (the Act) the State 
Records Commission (the Commission) is required to establish 
principles and standards governing recordkeeping by all State and 
local government agencies.  

During the year the SRO evaluated and processed the 
recordkeeping plans of 42 government organisations, along with 
the records retention and disposal schedules of another 22 
government organisations, and reported to the Commission 
regarding those documents. 
Following Commission approval in June 2012, the SRO published 
a fully revised General Disposal Authority for Human Resource 
Management Records, along with supporting documentation to 
assist implementation.  
In late 2011 the SRO published a Sector Disposal Authority (SDA) 
for Regional Development Commissions in WA. The SRO has also 
developed four other SDAs.  These will better facilitate the legal 
disposal of the records of Port Authorities, Cemetery Boards, 
Student Guilds and Universities. At least 33 organisations are 
covered by these SDAs. 
The SRO delivered records retention and disposal training in 2011 
training to 31 local authority staff across nine regional local 
authorities.  

Sta te  Records  Commiss ion  Suppor t  

One of the functions of the SRO is to provide administrative and 
operational support to the Commission, which is established under 
Part 8 of the Act.  The Commission consists of four members: the 
Auditor General, the State Ombudsman, the Freedom of 
Information Commissioner, and a recordkeeping professional who 
is the Governor’s appointee. 
This year the SRO supported three meetings of the Commission 
including a regional visit to the Shire of Northam. 
The SRO also supports the work of the State Records Advisory 
Committee. The Committee met three times this year and 
considered 15 disposal authorities, which were submitted to the 
Commission for approval.  



Department of Culture and the Arts | 38 

The SRO also investigated several alleged recordkeeping 
breaches of the Act, on the Commission’s behalf. These alleged 
breaches will be reported in the Commission’s annual report. 
The SRO organised the judging and presentation of two annual 
awards that are given under the aegis of the State Records 
Commission: 

 The State Records Commission Award for Excellence in 
Compliance Reporting acknowledges reporting by 
government agencies on compliance with their 
recordkeeping plans (as per Commission Standard 2, 
Principle 6).  The award was presented on 23 March 2012 
at the 27th Annual WS Lonnie Awards for public sector 
annual reporting. The winner of the award was the Disability 
Services Commission. 

 The Commission also promotes the Margaret Medcalf 
Award, which is presented each year in recognition of a 
published work that shows excellence in referencing and 
research using the State archives collection.  This year 
there were two separate presentations of the award, for 
works published respectively in 2010 and 2011 to:   

o Professor Anna Haebich for her book Murdering 
Stepmothers: the execution of Martha Rendell; and  

o Fiona Skyring for her book Justice: A history of the 
Aboriginal Legal Service of Western Australia. 

As required under section 28 of the Act, the Commission’s 
Recordkeeping Plan was reviewed and a report of the review 
prepared for the Minister.   
The Commission is required to report to State Parliament before 1 
November each year on matters concerning the operation of the 
Act. Since 2002 the SRO has compiled this report on the 
Commission’s behalf. The Commission’s Annual Report for 2010-
11 was tabled in State Parliament on 18 October 2011. 

I n te l lec tua l  con t ro l  o f  S ta te  A rch ives  

Archives  Exp lored Onl ine (AEON)  

AEON is the acronym for the online catalogue of archives held in 
the State archives collection at the SRO.  
In late June 2012 the Australian Government work experience 
service provider at Work Australia concluded its collaboration with 
the SRO in a data entry project.  This project commenced in 2004, 
and since then has facilitated the capture and transfer of almost all 
item titles in the SRO’s manual catalogue to an electronic format.  
The captured data is subsequently transported to AEON.  This 
year 21,000 items were added to the database. 

Preserva t i on  o f  the  S ta te  A rch ives  
Co l l ec t ion  

Sta te  Arch ives Repos i tory  

Under section 32 of the Act, all Government organisations must 
transfer their archives to the custody of the Director, State 
Records. The Executive Director is the custodian of the State 
archives collection at the SRO. 
A business case for the establishment of a State archives 
repository was submitted to Government in 2010-11. 
In response to the business case, the State Government this year 
allocated $100,000 towards the assessment of a viable site for a 
future State archives repository.   

Preservat ion  Program 

The SRO shares archives storage space in the Perth Cultural 
Centre with the State Library of Western Australia.  This year, a 
grant from the Friends of the Battye Library has enabled the SRO 
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to commence the digitisation of early Crown Surveyors’ field 
books.  

Access  and  Out reach   

Reference and access  serv ices  

The SRO maintains a public search room in the Perth Cultural 
Centre, where researchers may view State archives in hard copy 
and microfilm formats. A limited reference service is also provided 
to clients who are unable to visit Perth.    
The SRO has entered into a non-exclusive agreement with 
Ancestry.com Australia, which has enabled online access to 
records of early passenger arrivals and departures to and from 
Albany and Fremantle during the late 19th and early 20th centuries.  

Pub l i c  p rograms  

The SRO organises a program of public events to promote use of 
records in the State archives collection. This year’s events 
comprised: 

 Eating the Archives, a public event to celebrate CHOGM 
2011, on 28 October 2011. The event was inspired by 
menus from the State archives.  

 On 20 February 2012 the SRO was a partner in City of 
Light; the commemoration of the 50th anniversary of John 
Glenn’s space flight over Perth. Initiated by the SRO, this 
free public event was held in the Northbridge Piazza, in 
partnership with the City of Perth and the WA Museum, and 
featured a live link to the International Space Station.  

 As part of the Perth Cultural Centre’s ephemeral art 
program and in partnership with the MRA, DCA and 

Artsource, the SRO hosted two artists in residence who 
created a newly commissioned work titled WA 1828-1988: a 
luminary series of records played in parallel. This work, 
using significant material from the State archives collection, 
was shown on the LED screen and projected on the façade 
of buildings in the Perth Cultural Centre during April and 
May 2012. 

 On 21 November 2011 the SRO hosted the seventh annual 
Geoffrey Bolton Lecture at The University of Western 
Australia. The speaker at this public event was the 
University’s Vice Chancellor, Professor Alan Robson, who 
spoke about A Campus in the Community: archiving a 
century of service from the University of Western Australia.  

 In partnership with the National Trust of Australia (WA), as 
part of the Heritage Festival 2012, the SRO displayed CY 
O'Connor's final note and Coroner's inquest file at a public 
Lecture delivered by Professor Martyn Webb and CY 
O’Connor’s great-grandson, Mike Lefroy, on 2 May 2012. 

 Since 2002 the SRO has commemorated the annual 
release of the State Cabinet papers from a 30 year access 
embargo. In 2012 the SRO marked Western Australia Day 
by producing A Guide to the 1981 State Cabinet Records. It 
was published online in time for the Western Australia Day 
long weekend.  

 Four public lunchtime seminars were hosted by the SRO. 
These presentations promoted research into aspects of 
Western Australia’s history and were delivered by 
researchers or SRO staff on topics encompassing access 
to, or use of, records held in the State archives collection.
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Organisational support 
Managing our people 
Human Resources continued to provide services across the 
Portfolio including the development and implementation of human 
resource policy, planning and development initiatives, industrial 
relations support and staff development. Key activities throughout 
the year included:  

 The implementation of a new human resources services 
delivery model. This new model allows for greater clarity of 
function between teams, continuity of service to the 
Portfolio and economies of scale and skill range within 
human resources.   

 The incorporation of recruitment and classifications 
functions previously provided by the Office of Shared 
Services into the human resources team.  

 Consultation and development of a portfolio strategic 
workforce plan.  

 The renewal of the Employee Assistance Program for a 
five-year term. 

Equity and diversity 
The implementation of the EEO and Diversity Management Plan 
2010 – 2012 is now complete. Future EEO goals will be 
incorporated into the portfolio strategic workforce plan.  
The ‘How Does Your Agency Compare?’ report provided yearly by 
the Office of Equal Employment Opportunity shows a statistical 
analysis of workforce diversity in the Portfolio compared to the 
whole public sector. The information from this report showed that 
the Portfolio exceeded the public sector representation for women 
in management and people from culturally diverse backgrounds.  

Risk management and business 
continuity 
A risk management framework (supporting compliance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction TI 825) continued to be integrated in 
organisational planning and management throughout the year with 
oversight from the Department’s Risk Management Committee.  
Strategic risks were reviewed and continued to be monitored 
through the strategic planning review cycle.  Operational risks 
were embedded in operational plans and continued to be reviewed 
through the online RiskBase software program. 
The Department’s Business Continuity Plan has been revised to 
reflect the office move to 140 William Street, Perth.  In concert with 
this Information Services has developed an Information and 
Communication Technology Disaster Recovery Plan.
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Audit and review 
The Audit and Review function provides 
the Department with a disciplined 
approach to the evaluation of risk 
management, controls and governance. 
Through the Department’s Audit Program 
seven new audits (including one cross 
Culture and Arts Portfolio review) and 13 
audit follow ups were finalised.  
Significant audit recommendations were 
made in a number of areas including 
contract management, internet usage, 
compliance with supply policy and 
infrastructure support.  
The Department will benefit from the 
implementation of these and other audit 
recommendations through improvements 
in business performance supporting the 
achievement of the Department’s strategic 
objectives.  

 

“Revealed provides opportunities for the next generation of Indigenous 

artists to build networks and skills and to have access to a commercial 

audience.”

Martumilli Artists’ baskets at ‘Revealed’.  Photo by Tim Acker. 
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Significant issues and future 
directions 
The need for the Department to balance financial viability of its 
facilities with the support for arts and culture activities and content 
is essential.  Many of the Department’s responsibilities are for 
properties which are Registered Heritage Places, or on the 
Heritage Council of WA database.  Alterations, maintenance and 
improvements to these facilities are complex and costly.   

The Department is in the process of conducting a Venues Policy 
Review that is assessing and analysing the equity, access, 
subsidy and sustainability and associated issues of the facilities 
the Department owns, leases and manages.    
Aside from any grants and funding that organisations may receive 
from the Department, additional support is provided for the 
delivery of arts and culture through the provision of rental spaces 
provided at peppercorn or subsidised rent.  The Department 
acknowledges the importance of providing facilities that are 
affordable, adaptable and functional, however, it can not continue 
to do so at previous levels as costs have risen.   
The 2011/12 Strategic Asset Plan prepared by the Department, in 
conjunction with the portfolio, focused on articulating the wide 
range of services currently provided by the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio.  It also provided information on what services may be 
required in the future to respond to issues such as rapid 
population growth, changing demographics and the opportunities 
of new technologies.   

Based on the information generated in 2011, further work has 
commenced to: 

 assess the fitness for purpose of current building stock 

 understand what built form infrastructure is required in the 
future 

 prepare a longer-term maintenance program, based on 
comprehensive Building Condition Assessments, that 
inform disability access plans, heritage conservation 
strategies and energy efficiency.  

Through the State Government’s Strategic Asset Management 
Framework and the annual Strategic Asset Plan the Department 
has consolidated a whole of portfolio approach to the planning and 
delivery of capital projects.  This work has identified several 
common issues: 

The need for  a  shared so lu t ion to  s torage  

In 2011/12 the Department engaged consultants to quantify the 
volume of space required and the associated environmental 
conditions.  The potential for a shared conservation/preservation 
space was also considered.  This work will inform more detailed 
assessment of the options.   
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Elect r ic i ty  i s  a  major  cos t  p ressure  for  the  

Por t fo l io  

All buildings in the Portfolio that hold material from the State’s 
collections, and the venues that host performances, require 
reliable climate control.  Planning to assess this and to reduce 
energy consumption has commenced. 

Dig i t isa t ion  

The Department is working with the Portfolio to explore options for 
a shared approach to the digitisation of material in the State’s 
collections, and for the digitised material to be made available to 
the community.   

In f ras t ructure  main tenance  

A business case seeking additional funding in the 2012/13 State 
Budget to address maintenance issues in the Culture and Arts 
Portfolio was successful in gaining an extra $11 million over the 
next four years.  Works required to safeguard the State’s 
collections and address compliance and safety issues will be 
undertaken. 

State Records Office 
Sta te  a rch ives  

As stated in previous annual reports, the State Records Office 
remains unable to accept the transfer of hard copy and digital 
archives from State and local government agencies, due to lack of 
storage capacity.  

Compl iance mon i to r ing  w i th ,  and  
b reaches  o f ,  t h e  S ta te  Records  Ac t  
2000 

In supporting the implementation of the Act, now in its eleventh 
year of operation, and the Commission’s statutory functions (under 
section 60), a formal compliance monitoring regime is essential.  
Preparatory work is being undertaken. 
The introduction of a compliance monitoring regime will support 
the effective management of government information to the best 
advantage of agencies’ business imperatives and reduce 
redundant management costs.  
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Disclosures and legal compliance 
Ministerial directives 
Nil 

Pricing policies 
No pricing policies apply to the Department as it is not a 
commercial agency. 

Major capital projects 
The Department of Culture and the Arts is allocated all funding for 
capital projects across the Culture and Arts Portfolio, for both the 
planning and delivery stages.  The Director General has ultimate 
responsibility for these projects and provides progress reports to 
the Minister for Culture and the Arts and the Department of 
Treasury. 
In 2011/12 capital funded projects included: 

New museum fo r  WA a t  the  Per th  
Cu l tu ra l  Cen t re  

In the 2012 State Budget the Government announced its 
commitment to a new museum at the WA Museum’s Perth site.  
This important development is the result of the Department of 
Culture and the Arts, the WA Museum and the Department of 
Treasury (Strategic Projects) working together on a 
comprehensive business case.  The new museum will contribute 
significantly to the activation of the Perth Cultural Centre.  The 

funding commitment includes upgrades to the Museum’s 
Collections and Research Centre in Welshpool. 

Demol i t i on  o f  the  WA Museum’s  
F ranc i s  S t ree t  bu i ld ing  

This $8 million project was successfully concluded in early 2012.  
The site was used by the Perth International Arts Festival in March 
2012 for a series of outdoor performances.  The site will be used 
on a temporary basis until works start on the new museum.  

Rep lacement  o f  the  AGWA f açade    

Work to replace the Art Gallery of WA’s façade was completed in 
June 2012. It had been identified that it was structurally unsound 
and presented a risk to public safety. In 2009, $10 million was 
allocated by the State Government to address the issue.  The 
Department worked with the Art Gallery of WA, the Department of 
Finance’s Building Management and Works and contractors to 
replace the façade. 

Sta te  Records  Of f i ce  s i te  assessment  

A business case for a replacement State archives repository was 
completed by the State Records Office in 2010. An amount of 
$100,000 was allocated for further identification of a suitable site. 
A site assessment was undertaken in consideration of whole of 
portfolio needs and this will be expanded in late 2012.  
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New Venue  fo r  Mus ic  

In late 2011 the Department commenced the New Venue for 
Music project which involves the Department, the Perth Theatre 
Trust, the City of Perth and Building Management and Works 
developing a  feasibility study exploring options to upgrade the 
Perth Concert Hall and activate the surrounding precinct, creating 
a ‘hub’ for musical events. Alongside this project, the Western 
Australian Symphony Orchestra (WASO) is leading the 
development of a business needs statement looking at options to 
provide a new venue for music that will accommodate both small 
scale public performances and meet the orchestra’s need for 
accommodation and a dedicated rehearsal space.  

Governance  d isc losures :  in te res ts  o f  
sen io r  o f f i ce rs  

The Deputy Director General’s husband was the Acting General 
Manager for Steps Youth Dance Company until October 2011. 
This organisation receives funding from the Department. The 
Deputy Director General did not participate in any discussions or 
funding decisions relating to the organisation in which her husband 
was employed.  

Adver t i s i ng  expend i tu re  

In compliance with section 175ZE of the Electoral Act 1907, the 
Department of Culture and the Arts is required to report on 
expenditure incurred during the financial year in relation to 
advertising agencies, market research organisations, polling 
organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising 
organisations 
Details are as follows: 
 

Expenditure with Advertising 
Agencies - $0 

Expenditure with Market 
Research Agencies   

 

  Curtin University of 
Technology $16,363 

  Patterson Market 
Research $28,735 

  Other: Surveymonkey $500 
Expenditure with Polling 
Agencies - $0 

Expenditure with Direct Mail 
Agencies - $0 

Expenditure with Media 
Advertising Agencies     

  Adcorp Australia $42,292 

  Mitchell and Partners 
Australia $74,508 

  Arts Radio $5,125 

  West Australian 
Newspaper $2,900 

  Others: $2,563 
     Adstream   
     Alex MacRae   
     Benson Advertising   
     Careerhub   
     Cool Perth Night   
     Debra Webb   
     Life Noise   

Total Expenditure   $172,986 
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Disab i l i t y  access  and inc lus ion  p lan  
ou tcomes  

The Department is committed to ensuring that people with 
disabilities, their families, friends and carers have the same 
opportunities, rights and responsibilities enjoyed as others, to 
access its arts and cultural services, information and facilities. 
Progress towards meeting the desired outcomes of DCA’s 
Disability Access and Inclusion Plan is outlined below. 
The current Disability Access and Inclusion Plan 2007 – 2011 was 
extended to 31 December 2012 to enable to the Department to 
undertake public consultation for the development of a new plan 
for 2013 – 2017.  The new plan will guide the Department in how it 
welcomes people with disability, their carers, friends and families 
to its buildings, services and employment. 

Outcome 1: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the services of, 
and any events organised by, the Department. 

There has been an increase in applications from artists with 
disabilities to the Department’s arts funding programs.   
The Department of Culture and the Arts, Disability Services 
Commission, Mental Health Commission and Lotterywest have 
agreed that a feasibility study be undertaken to assess the merits 
of an independent resourcing strategy.  This strategy will be aimed 
at providing people with disability greater access to arts training, 
individual funding and professional development.   
A review of the Department’s grants funding processes is being 
undertaken.  One of the aims of the review is to simplify the 
application process.  Findings from a Disability and the Arts 
Inclusion Initiative pilot grants program for artists with disability will 
be considered during this review. 
The Department funded visual artist David Guhl to travel to New 
York to exhibit a body of work at the International Alexanders 

Angels Downright Art Exhibition; and two members of Sensorium, 
a sensory theatre group, were funded to travel to the United 
Kingdom to work and train with two companies which specialise in 
sensory theatre for young people with disability. 

Outcome 2: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to access the buildings and 
other facilities of the Department. 

Planning for access auditing of all Department buildings is 
underway.   Access is the highest priority for maintenance work 
along with works that ensure the safety of the public, people and 
collections. 

Outcome 3: People with disabilities receive information 
from the Department in a format that will enable them 
to access the information as readily as other people are 
able to access it. 

Publications, including the grants handbooks and grant application 
forms, follow the typeface, branding and layout guidelines 
contained in the Department’s style guide.  This complies with the 
Disability Services Commission guidelines for making information 
accessible. 
A variety of alternative and accessible formats are avai on 
request.  A by-line stating their availability is included in a 
prominent position in publications. 
The Department website is formatted to meet all requirements 
detailed by W3C Web Content Accessibility Guidelines. All 
documents available for download are tagged for accessibility and, 
where possible, are provided in an alternative plain text file format. 
All videos have transcripts attached. 
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Outcome 4: People with disabilities receive the same 
level and quality of service from the staff of the 
Department as other people receive from the staff of the 
Department. 

A presentation on disability access and inclusion, including 
customer service for people with disabilities, is included in the 
Culture and Arts Portfolio Induction Program for staff.  Ninety-eight 
staff attended induction training during the year. 

Outcome 5: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to make complaints to the 
Department. 

The Department’s complaints process is easily accessible online. 
Feedback and complaints mechanisms are in place and are being 
reviewed to ensure they are being appropriately implemented. 

Outcome 6: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to participate in any 
public consultation by the Department. 

To support people with disabilities, their families and carers to 
attend external consultations and public gatherings, the 
Department provides event information in clear, concise language 
and in accessible formats. It also holds events in accessible 
venues and provides consultation information in alternative 
formats, on request.   

Outcome 7: People with disabilities have the same 
opportunities as other people to seek employment with 
the Department. 

Information and policy aimed at encouraging and facilitating the 
recruitment of people with disabilities has been incorporated within 
the Department’s Recruitment, Selection and Appointment 
Manual. All staff have access to the manual through the 
Departmental intranet. 

Compl iance w i th  Pub l i c  Sec to r  
S tandards  and  E th ica l  Codes   

Compliance with the Public Sector Standards and Ethical Codes 
are assessed regularly by the Department’s Human Resources 
area. The Public Sector Commission investigates and determines 
the outcome of breach claims, should they occur.  
In accordance with Section 31 of the Public Sector Management 
Act 1994, the following is a report of the extent to which the 
Department has complied with Public Sector Standards, Western 
Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics and the Department’s 
Code of Conduct.  
 
 

75 per cent consider all theatres, opera, ballet 

companies and public art galleries should not be 

made to survive on their ticket sales alone 
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Compliance issue Significant action taken to monitor and ensure compliance 

Public Sector Standards 
 No breaches 

 Information about Public Sector Standards has been included on intranet and 
incorporated into the Department’s Induction Program. 

 The portfolio manager education program includes information on Public 
Sector Standards. 

 HR policies and guidelines are continually reviewed to ensure continued 
compliance with new Standards and other Public Sector guidance.  

Western Australian Public Sector Code of Ethics 
 No breaches 

 Training on the Code of Ethics and Code of Conduct continues to be covered 
in staff induction sessions.  

 Staff are required to acknowledge receipt of their own copies of the codes at 
the time that they sign their initial employment contract.  

 Staff are reminded of the content of the Codes during staff or management 
development training sessions on topics such as First Principles, the new 
Discipline Standard or the Performance Management Process. 

 The Department applies the Commissioner’s Instruction: Discipline – General 
and regularly reviews policies and processes to ensure compliance. 

 Accountable and Ethical Decision Making was planned to be held for all staff 
this year, however it has been postponed due to the Public Sector Commission 
announcement that the relevant policy will be revised and incorporated into the 
Code of Conduct.   

Code of Conduct 
 No breaches 

 As above for Code of Ethics, which has been incorporated into the 
Departmental Code of Conduct. 

 

The listed information is for the Department of Culture and Arts and the State Records Office only. The Portfolio Agencies (Art Gallery of 
WA, ScreenWest, WA Museum, Perth Theatre Trust and State Library) provide information in their annual reports. 
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Recordkeep ing  p lans  

Depar tment  o f  Cu l ture  and the Ar ts  

Recordkeep ing  Plan  

The Department has developed and is implementing strategies to 
ensure that each employee is aware of their compliance 
responsibilities established in the State Records Act 2000.  The 
Department’s Recordkeeping Plan (RKP) identifies minimum 
requirements with which State government agencies must comply.  
In 2011/12 the Department produced key results in each of these 
compliance areas as follows: 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the organisation’s 
recordkeeping system is evaluated not less than once every 
five years 
As a part of the move to 140 William Street, Perth, in November 
2011, current recordkeeping practices were reviewed.  To facilitate 
on-line access to corporate information the following projects were 
undertaken: 

 The roll out of TRIM for Electronic Document Management 
to all staff.  Twenty-nine training sessions were conducted 
with comprehensive training manuals and follow-up 
integration and customisation for all staff. 

 Completion of a retrospective scanning project to facilitate 
on-line access via the Electronic Document Records 
Management System (EDRMS) to HR records.  More than 
11,000 HR documents were scanned into the system from 
1824 files.  These records are now utilised by HR staff and 
managers across the Portfolio. 

 Upgrade of TRIM to Version 7.10 to enable the EDRMS to 
integrate with the Windows 7/Office 10 environment.  This 
involved re-training staff in the new environment and 
customisation of their desktops to facilitate easy access. 

 Comprehensive disposal project to send all closed and 
inactive records to off-site storage to reduce the 
requirement for on-site storage.  As  part of this project 300 
files past their due date for destruction were destroyed and 
1079 boxes of records were sent to off-site storage.  All 
records were disposed of in accordance with approved 
Retention and Disposal schedules. 

 As a part of the first annual review of the Department’s 
Knowledge Management Strategy a review incorporating 
recommendations was submitted and endorsed by the 
Executive Leadership Team in April 2012. 

All of these projects have improved awareness of recordkeeping 
responsibilities, the use of recordkeeping systems and access to 
corporate records by staff. 

The organisation conducts a record keeping training program 
Recordkeeping training is provided to staff to raise awareness of 
recordkeeping requirements and to provide instruction in 
recordkeeping systems and recordkeeping responsibilities.  A total 
of 59 training sessions were held during 2011/2012 with 175 staff 
receiving training.  
Recordkeeping staff were also provided with the opportunity to 
attend training to broaden their skills.  Records staff attended three 
training sessions and TRIM Administration training was provided 
for 12 records staff across the Culture and Arts Portfolio. 

The efficiency and effectiveness of the recordkeeping training 
program is reviewed from time to time 
The recordkeeping training program is reviewed regularly and staff 
usage of the EDRMS is monitored to identify gaps in usage.  
Training material has been revised to address updates in the 
system and to incorporate frequently asked questions.  Responses 
from staff surveyed as part of the roll-out of the EDRMS has been 
incorporated into training material. 
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Evidence that the Department’s recordkeeping training is 
improving recordkeeping practices is demonstrated by increased 
TRIM usage.  All staff working at 140 William Street, Perth, have 
access to TRIM and have been provided with TRIM EDRMS 
training.  Statistics demonstrate that TRIM usage is becoming 
increasingly embedded into the Department’s operations. 

The organisation’s induction program addresses employee 
roles and responsibilities in regard to their compliance with 
the organisation’s Recordkeeping Plan 
The SRO provides bi-monthly induction training for all new 
Department and portfolio staff on their recordkeeping 
responsibilities under the State Records Act 2000.  A brochure 
detailing staff recordkeeping responsibilities is provided for all staff 
attending these sessions. 
As a part of the induction process, managers are required to 
inform the Information Management team as new staff commence.  
New staff are provided with training and access to the TRIM 
EDRMS. 

Sta te  Records  Of f i ce  Recordkeep ing  
P lan  

The following information is provided as evidence of compliance 
with legislative requirements (i.e. the State Records Act 2000 and 
the State Records Commission’s Standards): 

 During 2011-12 the SRO reviewed internal recordkeeping 
systems and processes for effectiveness and relevant 
areas previously identified for improvement were 
addressed.  Specific areas included:  

o Commencement of the review of the SRO’s 
Recordkeeping Plan and accompanying Retention 
and Disposal Schedule. 

o An internal survey to evaluate the efficiency and 
effectiveness of current records management 
systems and practices.  The results of the survey will 
inform the Recordkeeping Plan review. 

o Development of an internal policy for the use of 
social media. 

o Upgrade of the TRIM records management system 
to version 7.1.0. 

o Inclusion of TRIM training in the formal induction 
program. 

o Ongoing disposal programs to remove time expired 
records authorised for destruction, thus freeing up 
valuable office space. 

o Documented website policy and procedures have 
been identified for urgent development. 

o Roll out of the EDRMS to SRO to complete the 
Department’s implementation of electronic 
recordkeeping has been identified as a priority.  

 All new staff receive a comprehensive induction via the 
Department’s portfolio induction program and also within 
the SRO.  Existing staff are given internal training that is 
relevant to their duties within the office.  Both programs 
encompass the recordkeeping responsibilities of each 
employee, in accordance with legislative requirements and 
the SRO’s Recordkeeping Plan. 

Substant ive equa l i t y  

This year the Department conducted a review of its Substantive 
Equality Project Plan, also incorporating changes to the revised 
Equal Opportunity Commission policy framework. A Portfolio 
reference group has been established. A proposed new policy and 
communications plan is under consideration. A large number of 
portfolio agency representatives attended Needs and Impact 
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Assessment training at the Equal Opportunity Commission. This 
will allow for the development of an implementation schedule to 
cover the Department and all portfolio agencies.  

Occupat iona l  hea l th ,  sa fe ty  and  in ju ry  
management  

Commi tment  

The Department is committed to ensuring that all employees are 
safe from injuries and risks to health while they are at work and 
accepts that employee health and safety is primarily a 
responsibility of management.  Specified policies, work practices 
and procedures have been prepared to address the hazards and 
hazardous work processes in the work place.  These are available 
on the Department’s intranet.  

Mechan isms fo r  consul ta t ion  wi th  s ta f f  

The Department and Portfolio agencies each have their own active 
OSH committees. The formal mechanisms for consultation with 
employees on OSH and injury management matters are primarily 
via line management. Staff are made aware of this process at their 
induction and by having access to information on the intranet.  

Compl iance wi th  in ju ry  management  

requi rements  

The Department demonstrates its commitment to assist 
employees to return to work after a work-related injury or work-
related disease through its Injury Management Policy. Information 
on workers compensation and injury management is provided to 
staff at induction and via the intranet. The Department engages in 

formal, documented programs for employees requiring modified 
duties or equipment upon returning to work after an injury. Such 
programs are compliant with the Worker’s Compensation and 
Injury Management Act 1981 

Measure Actual Results Results  against 
Target 

2010 - 
2011 

2011 - 
2012 

Target Comment 
on result 

Number of Fatalities 0 0 0 No change 
Lost time injury and/or 
disease incidence rate 

0 0 0 or 10% 
reduction 

No change 

Lost time injury and/or 
disease severity rate 

0 0 0 or 10% 
reduction 

No change 

Percentage of injured 
workers returned to 
work:  
(i) within 13 weeks 

0 0 Actual 
result to 
be stated 

No change 

(ii) within 26 weeks 0 0 Greater 
than or 
equal to 
80% 

No change 

Percentage of 
managers trained in 
occupational safety, 
health and injury 
management 
responsibilities 

100% 85% Greater 
than or 
equal to 
80% 

New 
managers 
to receive 
training  

Note: These are Department of Culture and Arts figures only, not 
Portfolio figures 
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Opinion of the Auditor General 
 

 
Auditor General 

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT  
To the Parliament of Western Australia  
DEPARTMENT OF CULTURE AND THE ARTS  
Report on the Financial Statements  
I have audited the accounts and financial statements of the 
Department of Culture and the Arts.  
The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial 
Position as at 30 June 2012, the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income, Statement of Changes in Equity, Statement of Cash 
Flows, Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service, Schedule of 
Assets and Liabilities by Service, and Summary of Consolidated 
Account Appropriations and Income Estimates for the year then 
ended, and Notes comprising a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information.  

Director General’s Responsibility for the Financial 
Statements  

The Director General is responsible for keeping proper accounts, 
and the preparation and fair presentation of the financial 
statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards 
and the Treasurer’s Instructions, and for such internal control as 
the Director General determines is necessary to enable the 

preparation of financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.  

 

Auditor’s Responsibility  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the financial statements based on my 
audit. The audit was conducted in accordance with Australian 
Auditing Standards. Those Standards require compliance with 
relevant ethical requirements relating to audit engagements and 
that the audit be planned and performed to obtain reasonable 
assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.  
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, 
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of 
the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making 
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those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control 
relevant to the Department’s preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that 
are appropriate in the circumstances. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness of the accounting policies used 
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by the 
Director General, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of 
the financial statements.  
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.  

Opinion  
In my opinion, the financial statements are based on proper 
accounts and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Department of Culture and the Arts at 30 June 2012 
and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then 
ended. They are in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions. Page 2 of 3  
Report on Controls  
I have audited the controls exercised by the Department of Culture 
and the Arts during the year ended 30 June 2012.  
Controls exercised by the Department of Culture and the Arts are 
those policies and procedures established by the Director General 
to ensure that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions.  

Director General’s Responsibility for Controls  

The Director General is responsible for maintaining an adequate 
system of internal control to ensure that the receipt, expenditure 
and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of public 
and other property, and the incurring of liabilities are in 
accordance with the Financial Management Act 2006 and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions, and other relevant written law.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the controls exercised by the Department 
of Culture and the Arts based on my audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing and Assurance Standards.  
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the adequacy of controls to ensure that the Department 
complies with the legislative provisions. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement and include an evaluation of 
the design and implementation of relevant controls.  
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.  

Opinion  

In my opinion, the controls exercised by the Department of Culture 
and the Arts are sufficiently adequate to provide reasonable 
assurance that the receipt, expenditure and investment of money, 
the acquisition and disposal of property, and the incurring of 
liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions 
during the year ended 30 June 2012.  
Report on the Key Performance Indicators  
I have audited the key performance indicators of the Department 
of Culture and the Arts for the year ended 30 June 2012.  
The key performance indicators are the key effectiveness 
indicators and the key efficiency indicators that provide information 
on outcome achievement and service provision.  

Director General’s Responsibility for the Key 
Performance Indicators  

The Director General is responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the key performance indicators in accordance with 
the Financial Management Act 2006 and the Treasurer’s 
Instructions and for such controls as the Director General 
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determines necessary to ensure that the key performance 
indicators fairly represent indicated performance.  

Auditor’s Responsibility  

As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is 
to express an opinion on the key performance indicators based on 
my audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing and 
Assurance Standards 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the key performance indicators. The procedures selected 
depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of 
the risks of material misstatement of the key performance 
indicators. In making these risk assessments the auditor considers 
internal control relevant to the Director General’s preparation and 
fair presentation of the key performance indicators in order to 
design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances. 
An audit also includes evaluating the relevance and 
appropriateness of the key performance indicators for measuring 
the extent of outcome achievement and service provision.  
I believe that the audit evidence obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion.  

Opinion  
In my opinion, the key performance indicators of the Department 
of Culture and the Arts are relevant and appropriate to assist users 
to assess the Department’s performance and fairly represent 
indicated performance for the year ended 30 June 2012.  
Independence  
In conducting this audit, I have complied with the independence 
requirements of the Auditor General Act 2006 and Australian 

Auditing and Assurance Standards, and other relevant ethical 
requirements.  
Matters Relating to the Electronic Publication of the Audited 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators  
This auditor’s report relates to the financial statements and key 
performance indicators of the Department of Culture and the Arts 
for the year ended 30 June 2012 included on the Department’s 
website. The Department’s management are responsible for the 
integrity of the Department’s website. I have not been engaged to 
report on the integrity of the Department’s website. The auditor’s 
report refers only to the financial statements and key performance 
indicators described above. It does not provide an opinion on any 
other information which may have been hyperlinked to/from these 
financial statements or key performance indicators. If users of the 
financial statements and key performance indicators are 
concerned with the inherent risks arising from publication on a 
website, they are advised to refer to the hard copy of the audited 
financial statements and key performance indicators to confirm the 
information contained in this website version of the financial 
statements and key performance indicators.  

 
COLIN MURPHY  
AUDITOR GENERAL FOR WESTERN AUSTRALIA  
Perth, Western Australia  
6 September 2012 
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Performance Indicators 
Certification of Key Performance Indicators 
Cul tu re  and the  Ar ts  Por t fo l i o  

For  the  Year  Ended  30  June  2012  

 
I hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and appropriate for assisting users to assess the 
performance of the culture and the arts portfolio, and fairly represent the performance of the portfolio for the financial year ended 30 June 
2012.  At the date of signing I am not aware of any circumstances that would render the particulars included in the performance indicators 
misleading or accurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
Jacqui Allen 
Accountable Authority 
 
11 September 2012 
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Key Performance Indicators (KPI) 
Introduction 
The Department’s KPIs have been developed in accordance with 
Treasurer’s Instruction 904 to evaluate the portfolio’s performance 
in achieving the Government’s Desired Outcomes and provide an 
overview of the critical and material aspects of service provision.  
The KPIs measure performance at the whole of portfolio level.  
The KPIs for each of the portfolio organisations support and 
contribute to the KPIs identified for the portfolio.  The result is a 
consolidated picture of what the culture and arts portfolio is 
delivering and the impact it is having on the community of Western 
Australia. 
 

Portfolio Services 
Services provided by the culture and arts portfolio are listed in the 
2011/12 Budget Papers under Culture and the Arts.  Funding for 
these services is provided by Parliament through a direct 
appropriation from Treasury to the Department and each statutory 
authority, with the exception of capital works funding which is 
allocated to the Department.  The services listed are: 
1. Arts Industry Support; 

2. Screen Production Industry Support; 

3. Venue Management Services; 

4. Art Gallery Services; 

5. Library and Information Services; 

6. Museum Services; and 

7. Government Record Keeping and Archival Services. 

Notwithstanding the clustering of services under Culture and the 
Arts in the Budget Papers, the Department is directly responsible 
for producing services (1) and (7).  The balance are the 
responsibility of ScreenWest Inc. (2), Perth Theatre Trust (3), Art 
Gallery of Western Australia (4), State Library of Western Australia 
(5), and the Western Australian Museum (6).  
The services reflect the total business of the portfolio.  In 
accordance with their enabling legislation, each portfolio 
organisation separately prepares an annual report and reports on 
their performance with respect to the specific services they deliver. 

Government Goals 
The Department of Culture and the Arts contributes to the 
achievement of the Government Goal: 
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Government Desired Outcomes 
The Government’s Desired Outcomes for the portfolio are:  

 A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts 
sector; and 

 Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary 
collections are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 

Achievement of the portfolio’s Government Desired Outcomes 
will facilitate the achievement of a creative community that 
participates in and values culture and the arts as essential to 
the quality of life and well-being of all people throughout 
Western Australia.  The KPIs describe the level of success of 
the services provided by the culture and arts portfolio in fulfilling 
the Outcomes.  

Market Research 
To measure the “Sustainability” and “Accessibility” Key 
Effectiveness Indicators, the Department commissioned 
Patterson Research Group to conduct a telephone survey. A 
total of 400 interviews were completed from Monday the 14th to 
Saturday 19th of May 2012 with 300 interviews completed with 
respondents in the Perth metropolitan area and the remaining 
100 completed with respondents from regional Western 
Australia.  Respondents interviewed were aged 18 years or 
over and were randomly selected within each household.  A 
sample of 400 across Western Australia gives a theoretical 
survey error of ±4.9 per cent at the 95 per cent level of 
confidence. 
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Government  Des i red  Outcome 1  

A creative, sustainable and accessible culture and arts sector. 

KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS 
Creativity 2011/12 

Target 
2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Proportion of funding 
applicants satisfied 
with the key elements 
of the “creative”1 
funding programs. 

79% 64% 67% 66% 

 
Explanatory Notes – Creativity 
More than $35m was allocated to arts, film and screen 
organisations and projects in order for the sector to deliver 
outcomes that contribute to creativity.  Peer panels assess funding 
applications to ensure the proposed projects demonstrate 
significant and achievable “creative” outcomes for the people of 
Western Australia.  Comprehensive processes are in place to 
monitor and acquit the State’s investment in “creative” outcomes 
delivered via the funding programs.    
The 2011/12 target was not met due to lower than expected 
satisfaction ratings from Arts Industry Support organisations and 
projects; however the 2011/12 measure of 64% is not significantly 
less than that of previous years 2010/11; 67% and 2009/10; 66%. 

                                            
1  Creativity “depends on the cultural values, preferences, and realities of residents and other 

stakeholders in a given community” (Arts, culture, creativity and communities: a framework for 
measurement: The Urban Institute 2002).  

 

Sustainability 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Perceived value of 
culture and the arts 
(including the Screen 
Industry) to the 
Western Australian 
community. 

79% 81% 77% 77% 

Proportion of 
triennially funded 
organisations within 
the culture and arts 
sector regarded as 
financially healthy. 

24% 24% 12% 16% 

 
Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 
The first sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the community values the culture and arts sector (including 
the Screen Industry), a key element in the sustainability of the 
sector.  This indicator was measured by the Flashpoll Omnibus 
community survey instrument administered by Patterson Research 
Group.  More than two thirds of the people interviewed (66% for 
Arts Industry Support and 77% for the Screen Industry) rate the 
arts as having a high value to the community.  The average index 
score of the value for the Arts Industry Support was 78%, with 
Screen Industry at 84%, producing a combined measure of 81%. 
The second sustainability KPI, which is also utilised by the 
Australia Council for the Arts, provides an indication of the 
financial health and sustainability of the triennially funded culture 
and arts organisations.  The assessment is based upon the 
percentage of triennially funded organisations that meet all of the 
following indicators:  
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 Reserves greater than 20 per cent of turnover; 

 Working Capital greater than 2.0 (asset/liability ratio); and  

 Cash reserves of greater than 10 weeks worth of 
expenditure. 

The proportion of triennially funded organisations within the culture 
and arts sector regarded as financially healthy in 2011/12 is 24%.  
Each year a record is kept of the financial health of 25 
organisations which are funded by the Department on a triennial 
contract basis.  This year six organisations met the criteria for 
financial health, up from three last year. 
In 2011/12 three organisations which had previously not met the 
working capital criteria did so and therefore moved into the 
financial healthy category.   

Accessibility 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Proportion of Western 
Australians that perceive 
culture and arts sector 
(including the Screen 
Industry) events to be 
accessible. 

61% 60% 61% 62% 

Explanatory Notes – Accessibility 
The accessibility KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the West Australian community perceive culture and arts 
sector events and/or productions to be accessible.  This indicator 
was measured by the Flashpoll Omnibus community survey 
instrument administered by Patterson Research Group.  The 
overall index score for the combined culture and arts sector and 
the screen industry was 60%. 
The Flashpoll Omnibus Survey indicated that 33% find arts and 
cultural activities ‘easy’ for the West Australian public to attend or 
participate in and 25% do not.  The proportion of respondents who 
perceive access to be ‘easy’ dropped from 36% last year while the 
proportion who perceived access to be ‘not easy’ was unchanged.  
The accessibility of arts and culture in Western Australia is slightly 
less positive than in the previous year.   
Respondents from regional Western Australia were little more 
likely to rate arts and cultural activities as ‘not easy’ to attend or to 
participate in (26%) compared to people in the Perth metropolitan 
area (25%).  This is in contrast to the previous year where the 
divide was much greater (31% regional compared to 23 % 
metropolitan). 
The proportion of respondents who indicated that it is ‘not easy’ to 
view Western Australian produced film and TV events or 
productions has significantly dropped over time from 43% in 2008 
to 33% in the current survey.  29% consider access to be easy, a 
rise from 26% in the previous year.   
In 2012 the index score for how accessible Western Australian TV 
events and film productions is calculated to be 58%, which has 
remained constant for the past three years.
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS 
Key Efficiency Indicators 2011/12 

Target 
2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

 
Service 

1 

Arts Industry 
Support 
Average cost per 
grant application 
processed 

 
$841 

 
$1,102 

 
$856 

 
$831 

 
Service 

2 

Screen 
Production 
Industry Support 
Average cost per 
grant application 
processed. 

 
$2,884 

 
$2,854 

 
$2,579 

 
$2,525 

 
Service 

3 

Venue 
Management 
Services 
Average cost per 
performance 

 
$27,630 

 
$27,779 

 
$35,300 

 
$22,568 

Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency 
Indicator 
The Outcome 1 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of 
resource input to the services provided.  Measurement of these 
indicators excludes the funding allocation that is provided to Arts 
Industry Support and Screen Production Industries. 
The increase in the average cost per grant application for Arts 
Industry Support is due to a rise in the cost of Arts Industry 
Support.  The number of applications was very similar to the 
previous year; however this was below the target set for this 
financial year.  
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Government  Des i red  Outcome 2  

Western Australia’s natural, cultural and documentary collections 
are preserved, accessible and sustainable. 

Key Effectiveness Indicators 
Preservation 2011/12 

Target 
2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Extent to which 
Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary 
collections, that 
require preservation, 
are preserved. 

 
83% 

 
82% 

 
82% 

 
82% 

 

Explanatory Notes – Preservation 
The preservation KPI provides an assessment of the extent to 
which the State’s art, museum, heritage and archives collections 
are preserved.  Preservation of the entire collection is not required, 
therefore this measure only relates to that part of the collection 
that is determined by the portfolio organisations as requiring 
preservation.  The indicator measures the extent to which the 
portfolio’s collection preservation outcomes have been met. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Accessibility 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

The number of 
accesses to 
Western Australia’s 
natural, cultural and 
documentary 
collections per 
capita2. 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
2.273 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
1.975 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
2.063 

Accesses 
Per Capita 
2.096 

Percentage of 
clients satisfied with 
the services 
associated with 
accessing Western 
Australia’s natural, 
cultural and 
documentary 
collections. 

90% 94% 93% 86% 

Number of 
Accesses: 

5,242,934 4,714,335 4,779,778 4,758,089 

 
 
 
  

                                            
2 Population (Per Capita) based on ABS Data table 3101.0 (WA): 2009/10 = 2,270,300; 2010/11 = 
2,317,100; 2011/12 = 2,387,200; and 2011/12 target (Budget Papers) = 2,306,200 
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Explanatory Notes – Accessibility Per 
Capita 
The accessibility KPIs provide the number of accesses and the 
number of accesses per capita to the State’s art, museum, 
heritage and archives collections and the level of satisfaction 
associated with the various aspects of service delivery associated 
with accessing the State’s collections.  The number of accesses is 
based on Museum, Art Gallery, State Library and State Records 
Office visitor attendance figures, and accesses via Internet User 
Sessions, etc.  Accesses for the State Library include the number 
of material exchanges between the State Library and Local 
Government public libraries.   
Access targets for the Art Gallery and Museum were both 
exceeded, however targets for the State Library and the State 
Records Office were not met.  Museum accesses via the internet 
rose sharply, rewarding the work that commenced in the previous 
year to revitalise the Museum’s online presence.  State Library 
targets for the number of accesses were over optimistic.  There 
was also a drop in the actual number of accesses from the 
previous year due to a fall in the number of people visiting the 
Library’s website.  State Records Office also saw a drop in online 
traffic. 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Sustainability3 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Value of collection 
renewal, content 
development, 
expansion and/or 
maintaining the 
physical integrity of 
the collection as a 
proportion of collection 
value. 

6% 6 % 6% 5% 

 

Explanatory Notes – Sustainability 
The sustainability KPI provides an assessment of the portfolio’s 
capacity to annually renew a portion of the collection, develop 
content, expand and/or maintain the physical integrity of the 
State’s art, museum and heritage collections. Collection renewal, 
content development, expansion and/or maintaining the physical 
integrity are essential to the sustainability of the collections. 

 

                                            
3. The SRO collection has not been valued and therefore is not included in this KPI.  
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Key E f f i c i ency Ind i ca to rs  

Key Efficiency Indicator 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Service 
4 

Art Gallery 
Services 
Average cost 
of Art Gallery 
services per 
Art Gallery 
access. 

$35 $36 $29 $29 

Service 
5 

Library and 
Information 
Services 
Average cost 
of State 
Library 
services per 
State Library 
access/client 
interaction. 

$10 $16 $13 $11 

Average cost 
of State 
Library 
services per 
new public 
library 
collection 
item. 

$65 $80 $84 $71 

 

Key Efficiency Indicator 2011/12 
Target 

2011/12 
Actual 

2010/11 
Actual 

2009/10 
Actual 

Service 
6 

Museum 
Services 

Average cost 
of Museum 
services per 
Museum 
access. 

$42 $41 $24 $41 

Service 
7 

Government 
Record-
keeping and 
Archival 
Services 
Average cost 
of State 
Records 
Office (SRO) 
services per 
access to the 
State archives 
collection. 

$12 $16 $12 $9 

Average cost 
of SRO 
services per 
regulatory 
service. 

$399 $417 $459 $474 
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Explanatory Notes – Key Efficiency 
Indicator 
The Outcome 2 Key Efficiency Indicators relate the level of 
resource input to the services provided. 
State Library’s average cost of delivering new public library 
collection items is higher than budgeted with the number of new 
public library items supplied lower than expected.   The average 
cost per access is also higher than anticipated with less than the 
targeted number of accesses made to services.   
The average cost of accesses provided by the SRO is higher than 
estimated due to a decrease in the number of accesses.  The 
number of regulatory accesses rose from the previous year; 
however the cost of delivering these services was above the 
budget target, but similar to costs from the previous year 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 65 

Certification of Financial Statements 
For the year ended 30 June, 2012 

 
 
The accompanying financial statements of the Department of Culture and the Arts have been prepared in compliance with the provisions of 
the Financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the financial transactions for the financial year ended 
30 June 2012 and the financial position as at 30 June 2012. 
At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars included in the financial statements 
misleading or inaccurate. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Jacqui Allen Tony Loiacono CPA 
Acting Director General Chief Financial Officer 
Date:  5 September 2012 Date:  5 September 2012 
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Financial Statements 
Statement of Comprehensive Income 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

 
Note 2012 

$000  
2011 
$000 

COST OF SERVICES 
Expenses 

 
  

  
Employee benefits expense 5 50,077 

 
48,640 

Supplies and services 6 10,604 
 

6,723 
Depreciation and amortisation 
expense 7 1,092 

 
1,005 

Accommodation expenses 8 2,449 
 

1,957 
Grants and subsidies 9 36,145 

 
32,784 

Loss on disposal of non-current 
assets 14 5 

 
- 

Other expenses  10 655 
 

412 

Total cost of services 
 

101,027 
 

91,521 
 
Income 

Revenue 
 

  
  

User fees and charges 11 381 
 

458 
Commonwealth grants and 
contributions 12 493 

 
990 

Other revenue 13 1,339 
 

2,135 
Total revenue 

 
2,213 

 
3,583 

Total income other than income from 
State Government  

2,213 
 

3,583 

NET COST OF SERVICES 
 

98,814 
 

87,938 
 
Income from State Government  

Service appropriation 15 93,685 
 

91,744 
Assets transferred 

 
(40) 

 
- 

Royalties for Regions Fund 
 

24 
 

14 
Resources received free of charge 

 
370 

 
142 

Total income from State 
Government  

94,039 
 

91,900 

 
SURPLUS (DEFICIT) FOR THE 
PERIOD  

(4,775) 
 

3,962 

 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 

Changes in asset revaluation surplus 
 

(450) 
 

593 

Total other comprehensive income  
(expense)  

(450) 
 

593 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
(EXPENSE) FOR THE PERIOD  (5,225) 

 
4,555 

The Statement of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction 
with the accompanying notes. 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 67 

Statement of Financial Position 

As at 30 June 2012 

 
Note 

2012 
$000  

2011 
$000 

ASSETS 
 

  
  

Current Assets 
 

  
  

Cash and cash equivalents 27 27,093 
 

20,231 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 
27 294 

 
313 

Receivables 17 5,731 
 

3,626 

Amounts receivable for services 18 - 
 

2,588 

Other current assets 19 238 
 

31 

Total Current Assets 
 

33,356 
 

26,789 
 
Non-Current Assets 

 
  

  
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 16, 

27 1,285 
 

1,037 

Receivables 17 168 
 

200 

Amounts receivable for services 18 3,670 
 

- 

Property, plant and equipment 20 54,229 
 

55,841 

Intangible assets 21 469 
 

112 

Total Non-Current Assets 
 

59,821 
 

57,190 
 
TOTAL ASSETS 

 
93,177 

 
83,979 

 

LIABILITIES 
 

  
  

Current Liabilities 
 

  
  

Payables 23 32,603 
 

27,590 

Provisions 24 10,505 
 

8,676 

Other current liabilities 25 504 
 

3 

Total Current Liabilities 
 

43,612 
 

36,269 
 
Non-Current Liabilities 

 
  

  
Provisions 24 2,359 

 
3,895 

Total Non-Current Liabilities 
 

2,359 
 

3,895 
 
TOTAL LIABILITIES 

 
45,971 

 
40,164 

 
NET ASSETS 

 
47,206 

 
43,815 

 
EQUITY 26   

  
Contributed equity 

 
9,491 

 
875 

Reserves 
 

41,880 
 

42,330 

Accumulated surplus (deficit) 
 

(4,165) 
 

610 

TOTAL EQUITY 
 

47,206 
 

43,815 

Refer to the 'Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service'.. 
The Statement of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with 
the accompanying notes.  
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Statement of Changes in Equity 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

 
Note 

Contributed 
Equity 
$000 

Reserves 
$000 

Accumulated 
Surplus 
(Deficit) 

$000 

Total Equity 

Balance at 1 July 2010 26 100,231 41,737 (3,352) 138,616 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
 

- 593 3,962 4,555 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:  

- - -  

Capital appropriations 
 

13,468 - - 13,468 

Other contributions by owners 
 

2,575 - - 2,575 

Distributions to owners 
 

(115,399) - - (115,399) 

Total   
 

(99,356) - - (99,356) 
 
Balance at 30 June 2011 

 
875 42,330 610 43,815 

 
Balance at 1 July 2011 

 
875 42,330 610 43,815 

Total comprehensive income for the period 
 

- (450) (4,775) (5,225) 

Transactions with owners in their capacity as 
owners:  

- - - - 

Capital appropriations 
 

15,500 - - 15,500 

Other contributions by owners 
 

- - - - 

Distributions to owners 
 

(6,884) - - (6,884) 

Total   
 

8,616 (450) (4,775) 3,391 

Balance at 30 June 2012 
 

9,491 41,880 (4,165) 47,206 
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The Statement of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
Statement of Cash Flows 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

 
Note 

2012 
$000  

2011 
$000 

CASH FLOWS FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  

Service appropriation 
 

92,403 
 

90,510 

Capital contributions 
 

8,616 
 

11,563 

Holding account drawdowns 
 

200 
 

4,538 

Regional Royalties Fund 
 

24 
 

14 

Net cash provided by State 
Government  

101,243 
 

106,625 

 
Utilised as follows: 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES  

Payments 
 

   

Employee benefits 
 

(50,403) 
 

(42,433) 

Supplies and services 
 

(4,899) 
 

(5,437) 

Accommodation 
 

(2,449) 
 

(1,957) 

Grants and subsidies 
 

(35,768) 
 

(33,173) 

GST payments on purchases 
 

(5,192) 
 

(6,573) 

GST payments to taxation 
authority  

(187) 
 

(260) 

Other payments 
 

(441) 
 

(4,575) 
 
 
 

Receipts 
 

  
  

User charges and fees 
 

144 
 

458 

Commonwealth grants and 
contributions  

493 
 

990 

GST receipts on sales 
 

190 
 

268 

GST receipts from taxation 
authority  

4,670 
 

6,690 

Other receipts 
 

22 
 

3,866 

Net cash (used in) operating 
activities 27 (93,820) 

 
(82,136) 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES  

Payments 
 

  
  

Purchase of non-current physical 
assets  

(331) 
 

(23,845) 

Net cash used in investing 
activities  

(331) 
 

(23,845) 

  
  

  
Net increase/(decrease) in cash 
and cash equivalents  

7,092 
 

644 

Cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of period  

21,581 
 

20,937 

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 
AT THE END OF PERIOD 27 28,673 

 
21,581 

The Statement of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the 
accompanying notes. 
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Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service 

For the year ended 30 June 2012 

 
Arts Industry 

Support 
Recordkeeping and 
Archival Services 

Services provided 
to external agencies Total 

 
2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

COST OF SERVICES 
        

Expenses 
        

Employee benefits expenses 4,669 4,661 2,049 2,064 43,359 41,915 50,077 48,640 
Supplies and services 2,048 1,225 346 565 8,210 4,933 10,604 6,723 
Depreciation and amortisation expense 170 158 69 57 853 790 1,092 1,005 
Accommodation expenses 491 203 98 41 1,860 1,713 2,449 1,957 
Grants and subsidies 28,853 27,965 62 31 7,230 4,788 36,145 32,784 
Appropriations to agencies 640 - 128 - (768) - - - 
Cost of sales - - - - - - - - 
Loss on disposal of assets 6 - 1 - (2) - 5 - 
Other expenses 108 44 23 9 524 359 655 412 
Total cost of services 36,985 34,256 2,776 2,767 61,266 54,498 101,027 91,521 
 
Income 

      
  

 
User charges and fees  (80) 34 89 97 311 327 320 458 
Sale of Goods 59 - 73 17 (71) (17) 61 - 
Commonwealth grants and contributions 465 620 1 2 27 368 493 990 
Other revenue 311 246 56 90 972 1,799 1,339 2,135 
Total income other than income from 
State Government 755 900 219 206 1,239 2,477 2,213 3,583 

NET COST OF SERVICES 36,230 33,356 2,557 2,561 60,027 52,021 98,814 87,938 
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INCOME FROM STATE GOVERNMENT  
Service Appropriation 13,715 11,238 4,595 4,293 75,375 76,213 93,685 91,744 
Grants and subsidies from State 
Government 119 - 28 - (147) 14 - 14 

Assets assumed (transferred) (6) (10) (1) (2) (33) 12 (40) - 
Royalties for Regions 4 

 
1 

 
19 

 
24 

 
Resources received free of charge - 20 - 4 370 118 370 142 
Total income from State Government 13,832 11,248 4,623 4,295 75,584 76,357 94,039 91,900 
SURPLUS/DEFICIT FOR THE PERIOD (22,398) (22,108) 2,066 1,734 15,557 24,336 (4,775) 3,962 
The Output Schedule of Expenses and Revenues should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.  
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Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service 

As at 30 June 2012 

 
Arts Industry 

Support 
Recordkeeping 

and Archival 
Services 

Services 
provided to 

external 
agencies 

Total 

 
2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

Assets 
        

Current Assets 4,997 3,970 1,313 1,117 27,046 21,702 33,356 26,789 

Non-Current Assets 8,663 8,359 4,395 4,298 46,763 44,533 59,821 57,190 

Total assets 13,660 12,329 5,708 5,415 73,809 66,235 93,177 83,979 

         
Liabilities 

        
Current Liabilities 6,967 5,439 1,293 1,088 35,352 29,740 43,612 36,267 

Non-Current Liabilities 354 584 71 117 1,934 3,194 2,359 3,895 

Total Liabilities 7,321 6,023 1,364 1,205 37,286 32,934 45,971 40,162 

         
NET ASSETS 6,339 6,306 4,344 4,210 36,523 33,301 47,206 43,817 

The Schedule of Assets and Liabilities by Service should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 
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Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income Estimates 

For The Year Ended 30 June 2012 

 

2012 
Estimate 

$'000 

2012 
Actual 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000  

2012 
Actual 
$'000 

2011 
Actual 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

DELIVERY OF SERVICES 
   

 
   

Item 77 Net amount appropriated to deliver services 76,105 78,906 2,801  78,906 77,987 919 
Amount Authorised by Other Statutes:        
 - Lotteries Commission Act 1990 13,818 14,000 182  14,000 13,000 1,000 
 - Salaries and Allowances Act 1975 779 779 0  779 757 22 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 90,702 93,685 2,983  93,685 91,744 1,941 
 

CAPITAL        

Item 147 Capital appropriations 21,000 15,500 (5,500)  15,500 11,563 3,937 

GRAND TOTAL 111,702 109,185 (2,517)  109,185 103,307 5,878 
 

Details of Expenses by Service        

Arts Industry Support 34,757 36,985 2,228  36,985 34,256 2,729 
Recordkeeping and Archival Services 2,395 2,776 381  2,776 2,767 9 
Services provided to external agencies 53,550 61,264 7,714  61,264 54,498 6,766 
Total Cost of Services 90,702 101,025 10,323  101,025 91,521 9,504 
Less total income 0 (2,213) (2,213)  (2,213) (3,583) 1,370 
Net Cost of Services 90,702 98,812 8,110  98,812 87,938 10,874 
Adjustments 0 (5,127) (5,127)  (5,127) 3,806 (8,933) 

Total appropriations provided to deliver services 90,702 93,685 2,983  93,685 91,744 1,941 
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Capital Expenditure 

Purchase of non-current physical assets 21,000 15,500 (5,500)  15,500 11,563 3,937 

Capital Contribution (appropriation) 21,000 15,500 (5,500)  15,500 11,563 3,937 

Adjustments comprise movements in cash balances and other accrual items such as receivables, payables and superannuation. 
Other external agencies comprise the Art Gallery of WA, The Library Board of WA,  Western Australian Museum and Perth Theatre Trust 
whose funding is provided through direct appropriation and services received free of charge from the Department of Culture and the Arts.  
Note 32 'Explanatory statement' provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2012 and between the 
actual results for 2012 and 2011.  
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Notes to the Financial Statements  

For the year ended 30 June 2012 
Note 1 .  Aust ra l ian  Account ing  Standards  

General  
The Department’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 
2012 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
Accounting Standards. The term 'Australian Accounting Standards' 
refers to Standards and Interpretations issued by the Australian 
Accounting Standard Board (AASB). 
The Department has adopted any applicable, new and revised 
Australian Accounting Standards from their operative dates. 

Early adoption of standards 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other 
Pronouncements.There has been no early adoption of Australian 
Accounting Standards that have been issued or amended (but not 
operative) by the Department for the annual reporting period 
ended 30 June 2012. 

Note 2 .  Summary  o f  s ign i f ican t  account ing  

po l ic ies  

(a) General statement 

The Department is a not-for-profit reporting entity that prepares 
general purpose  financial statements in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of 
Accounting Concepts and other authoritative  pronouncements of 
the AASB as applied by the Treasurer's instructions. Several of 
these are modified by the Treasurer’s instructions to vary 
application, disclosure, format and wording. 

The Financial Management Act and the Treasurer’s instructions 
impose legislative provisions that  govern the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over Australian 
Accounting Standards, the Framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. 
Where modification is required and has had a material or 
significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

(b) Basis of preparation 

The financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis 
of accounting using the historical cost convention, except for land, 
buildings and infrastructure which have been measured at fair 
value. 
The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial 
statements have been consistently applied throughout all periods 
presented unless otherwise stated. 
The financial statements are presented in Australian dollars and all 
values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($'000).  
Note 3 ‘Judgements made by management in applying accounting 
policies’ discloses judgements that have been made in the 
process of applying the Department’s accounting policies resulting 
in the most significant effect on amounts recognised in the 
financial statements. 

(c) Reporting entity 

The reporting entity comprises the Department of Culture and the 
Arts.  The Department has no related bodies. 
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Mission 
The Department’s mission is to provide leadership, support and 
services to ensure that Western Australians have easy and 
affordable access to a diverse range of innovative ideas, 
knowledge and cultural experiences 
The Department is predominantly funded by Parliamentary 
appropriations. The Department is supplemented by fees received 
for the provision of services that are charged out on a full cost 
recovery basis. The fees charged are determined by prevailing 
market forces. The financial statements encompass all funds 
through which the Department controls resources to carry on its 
functions. 

Services 
The Department provides the following services: 
Service 1: Arts Industry Support 
To provide an integrated and unifying means of delivering policy 
and programs that will assist in the development of creative 
people, communities, economies and environments for the public 
of Western Australia. 
Service 2: Recordkeeping and Archival Services 
Service 3: Services to external agencies 
Ensures that corporate services are delivered to agencies within 
the Culture and Arts portfolio. 

(d) Contributed equity 

AASB Interpretation 1038 Contributions by Owners Made to 
Wholly-Owned Public Sector Entities requires transfers in the 
nature of equity contributions, other than as a result of a 
restructure of administrative arrangements, to be designated by 
the Government (the owner) as contributions by owners (at the 
time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital appropriations have 
been designated as contributions by owners by TI 955 

Contributions by Owners made to Wholly Owned Public Sector 
Entities and have been credited directly to Contributed equity. 
The transfer of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a 
result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are 
non-discretionary and non-reciprocal. Refer also to note 26 
‘Equity’. 

(e) Income 

Revenue recognition 
Revenue is recognised and measured at the fair value of 
consideration received or receivable.  Revenue is recognised for 
the major business activities as follows: 

Sale of goods 
Revenue is recognised from the sale of goods and disposal of 
other assets when the significant risks and rewards of ownership 
transfer to the purchaser and can be measured reliably. 

Provision of services 
Revenue is recognised by reference to the stage of completion of 
the transaction. 

Interest 
Revenue is recognised as the interest accrues. 

Service Appropriations 
Service Appropriations are recognised as revenues at fair value in 
the period in which the Department gains control of the 
appropriated funds.  The Department gains control of appropriated 
funds at the time those funds are deposited to the bank account or 
credited to the 'Amounts receivable for services' (holding account) 
held at Treasury. 
The Department receives funding from the Lotteries Commission 
under the provisions of Section 22 of the Lotteries Commission Act 
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(1990).  This provides for receipts based on five per cent of the net 
lotteries and games subscriptions received by the Lotteries 
Commission.  Accordingly all funds have been received as at 30 
June. This amount is recognised as Service Appropriations in the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

Net Appropriation Determination 
The Treasurer may make a determination providing for prescribed 
receipts to be retained for services under the control of the 
Department.  In accordance with the determination specified in the 
2011-2012 Budget Statements, the Department retained $2.21 
million in 2012 ($3.58 million in 2011) from the following: 

 proceeds from fees and charges; 

 Commonwealth specific purpose grants and contributions; 
and 

 other departmental revenue. 

Grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal 
contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when the Department obtains 
control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually when 
cash is received. 
Other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by 
owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of services 
are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined 
and the services would be purchased if not donated. 
Royalties for Regions funds are recognised as revenue at fair 
value in the period in which the Department obtains control over 
the funds.  The Department obtains control of the funds at the time 
the funds are deposited into the Department’s bank account. 

(f) Property, plant and equipment  

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Items of property, plant and equipment costing $5,000 or more are 
recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is expensed 
(depreciated) over their useful lives. Items of property, plant and 
equipment costing less than $5,000 are immediately expensed 
direct to the Statement of Comprehensive Income [other than 
where they form part of a group of similar items which are 
significant in total]. 

Initial recognition and measurement 
Property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost. 
For items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or 
for nominal cost, the cost is the fair value at the date of acquisition. 

Subsequent measurement 
Subsequent to initial recognition as an asset, the revaluation 
model is used for the measurement of land and buildings and 
historical cost for all other property, plant and equipment. Land 
and buildings are carried at fair value less accumulated 
depreciation (buildings only) and accumulated impairment losses. 
All other items of property, plant and equipment are stated at 
historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. 
Where market based evidence is available, the fair value of land 
and buildings is determined on the basis of current market buying 
values determined by reference to recent market transactions. 
When buildings are revalued by reference to recent market 
transactions, the accumulated depreciation is eliminated against 
the gross carrying amount of the asset and the net amount 
restated to the revalued amount. 
In the absence of market-based evidence, fair value of land and 
buildings is determined on the basis of existing use. This normally 
applies where buildings are specialised or where land use is 
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restricted. Fair value for existing use assets is determined by 
reference to the cost of replacing the remaining future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset, ie. the depreciated replacement 
cost. Where the fair value of buildings is determined on the 
depreciated replacement cost basis, the gross carrying amount 
and the accumulated depreciation are restated proportionately. 
Land and buildings are independently valued annually by the 
Western Australian Land Information Authority (Valuation 
Services) and recognised annually to ensure that the carrying 
amount does not differ materially from the asset’s fair value at the 
end of the reporting period.  
Refer also to note 20 'Property, plant and equipment' for further 
information on revaluations. 

Derecognition 
Upon disposal or derecognition of an item or property, plant and 
equipment, any revaluation surplus relating to that asset is 
retained in the asset revaluation surplus. 

Asset revaluation surplus 
The asset revaluation surplus is used to record increments and 
decrements on the revaluation of non-current assets as described 
in 'Note 20. Property, plant and equipment'. 

Depreciation 
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are 
systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a 
manner that reflects the consumption of their future economic 
benefits. 
Land is not depreciated. Depreciation on other assets is calculated 
using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed 
annually. Estimated useful lives for each class of depreciable 
asset are: 

 

Buildings 40 years 

Leasehold improvements 40 years 

Plant and equipment  5 to 10 years 

Computer hardware and software (a) 4 years 

Furniture and fittings 10 years 

Collections 0 to 100 years 

 (a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 
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Works of art controlled by the Department are classified as 
property, plant and equipment, which are anticipated to have very 
long and indefinite useful lives. Their service potential has not, in 
any material sense, been consumed during the reporting period 
and so no depreciation has been recognised. 

(g) Intangible assets 

Capitalisation/expensing of assets 
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $5,000 or more and 
internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are 
capitalised. The cost of utilising the assets is expensed 
(amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred below these 
thresholds are immediately expensed directly to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income. 
Intangible assets are initially recognised at cost. For assets 
acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, the cost is their fair value 
at the date of acquisition. 
The cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring 
the asset to be carried at cost 
less any accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis. All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value. 
Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is 
calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life which is reviewed annually) on the straight line basis.  All 
intangible assets controlled by the Department have a finite useful 
life and zero residual value. 

The expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are: 

Software (a) 3 to 5 years 

(a)  Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware 

Licences 
Licences have a finite useful life and are carried at cost less 
accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Computer Software 
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is 
recognised as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not 
an integral part of the related hardware is recognised as an 
intangible asset. Software costing less than $5,000 is expensed in 
the year of acquisition. 

Website costs 
Website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred 
unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. Generally, costs in 
relation to feasibility studies during the planning phase of a 
website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating 
phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing a 
website, to the extent that they represent probable future 
economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised. 

(h) Impairment of assets 

Property, plant and equipment and intangible assets are tested for 
any indication of impairment at the end of each reporting period. 
Where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable 
amount is estimated. Where the recoverable amount is less than 
the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is 
written down to the recoverable amount and an impairment loss is 
recognised. As the Department is a not-for-profit entity, unless an 
asset has been identified as a surplus asset, the recoverable 
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amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and 
depreciated replacement cost. 
The risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where 
an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in 
useful life. Each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually to 
verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the 
level of consumption or expiration of the asset’s future economic 
benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling 
replacement costs. 
Intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets 
not yet available for use are tested for impairment at the end of 
each reporting period irrespective of whether there is any 
indication of impairment. 
The recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is 
the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present value of 
future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus 
assets carried at fair value have no risk of material impairment 
where fair value is determined by reference to market-based 
evidence. Where fair value is determined by reference to 
depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of 
impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. Surplus 
assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at the end of 
each reporting period. 
Refer to note 22 'Impairment of assets' for the outcome of 
impairment reviews and testing. 

(i) Non-current assets (or disposal groups) classified as 
held for sale 

Non-current assets (or disposal groups) held for sale are 
recognised at the lower of carrying amount and fair value less 
costs to sell, and are disclosed separately from other assets in the 
Statement of Financial Position. Assets classified as held for sale 
are not depreciated or amortised. 

All Crown land holdings are vested in the Department by the 
Government. The Department of Regional Development and 
Lands (DRDL) is the only agency with the power to sell Crown 
land.The Department transfers the Crown land and any attached 
buildings to DRDL when the land becomes available for sale. 

(j) Leases 

The Department holds operating leases for office accommodation. 
Operating leases are expensed on a straight line basis over the 
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from 
the leased properties. 

(k) Financial instruments 

In addition to cash, the Department has two categories of financial 
instrument: 

 Loans and receivables; and 

 Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 
Financial instruments have been disaggregated into the following 
classes: 

 Financial Assets 
o Cash and cash equivalents 
o Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
o Receivables  
o Amounts Receivable for Services 

 Financial Liabilities 
o Payables 

Initial recognition and measurement of financial instruments is at 
fair value which normally equates to the transaction cost or the 
face value. Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using 
the effective interest method. 
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The fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the 
transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the 
effect of discounting is not material. 
 

(l) Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purpose of the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash 
equivalent (and restricted cash and cash equivalent) assets 
comprise cash on hand and short-term deposits with original 
maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of 
changes in value. 

(m) Accrued salaries 

Accrued salaries [refer to note 23 ‘Payables’] represent the 
amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year, as 
the pay date for the last pay period for that financial year does not 
coincide with the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are 
settled within a fortnight of the financial year end. The Department 
considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent 
to its net fair value. 
The accrued salaries suspense account [refer to Note 16 
‘Restricted cash and cash equivalents’] consists of amounts paid 
annually into a suspense account over a period of 10 financial 
years to largely meet the additional cash outflow in each eleventh 
year when 27 pay days occur instead of the normal 26. No interest 
is received on this account. 

(n) Amounts receivable for services (holding account) 

The Department receives funding on an accrual basis that 
recognises the full annual cash and non-cash cost of services. The 
appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset 
(holding account receivable). The accrued amount receivable is 
accessible on the emergence of the cash funding requirement to 
cover leave entitlements and asset replacement. 

Refer to note 15 ‘Income from State Government’ and note 18 
’Amounts receivable for services’. 

(o) Receivables 

Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount 
less an allowance for uncollectible amounts (i.e. impairment). The 
collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and 
any receivables identified as uncollectible are written-off against 
the allowance account. The allowance for uncollectible amounts 
(doubtful debts) is raised when there is objective evidence that the 
Department will not be able to collect the debts. The carrying 
amount is equivalent to fair value as it is due for settlement within 
30 days. 
Refer also to note 2(k) 'Financial Instruments' and note 17 
‘Receivables’. 

(p) Payables 

Payables are recognised at the amounts payable when the 
Department becomes obliged to make future payments as a result 
of a purchase of assets or services. The carrying amount is 
equivalent to fair value, as settlement is generally within 30 days. 

(q) Provisions 

Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are 
recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions 
are reviewed at the end of each reporting period. 
Refer to note 24 ‘Provisions’. 

Provisions - Employee Benefits 
All annual leave and long service leave provisions are in respect of 
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period. 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 82 

Annual leave 
The liability for annual and long service leave expected to be 
settled within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised 
and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled. 
Annual leave and long service leave not expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement. 
When assessing expected future payments consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions. In 
addition, the long service leave liability also considers the 
experience of employee departures and periods of service. The 
expected future payments are discounted using market yields at 
the end of the reporting period on national government bonds with 
terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated 
future cash outflows. 
The provision for annual leave is classified as a current liability as 
the Department does not have an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period. 

Long Service Leave 
The liability for long service leave that is expected to be settled 
within 12 months after the end of the reporting period is 
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected 
to be paid when the liability is settled. 
Long service leave that is not expected to be settled within 12 
months after the end of the reporting period is recognised and 
measured at the present value of amounts expected to be paid 
when the liabilities are settled using the remuneration rate 
expected to apply at the time of settlement. 

When assessing expected future payments consideration is given 
to expected future wage and salary levels including non-salary 
components such as employer superannuation contributions, as 
well as the experience of employee departures and periods of 
service. The expected future payments are discounted using 
market yields at the end of the reporting period on national 
government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as 
possible, the estimated future cash outflows. 
Unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as 
current liabilities as the Department does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 
months after the end of the reporting period.  Pre-conditional and 
conditional long service leave provisions are classified as non-
current liabilities because the Department has an unconditional 
right to defer the settlement of the liability until the employee has 
completed the requisite years of service. 
An actuarial assessment of long service leave undertaken by 
PriceWaterHouseCoopers Actuaries at 30 June 2012 determined 
that the liability measured using the short-hand measurement 
technique above was not materially different from the liability 
determined using the present value of expected future payments. 
This calculation is consistent with the Department’s experience of 
employee retention and leave taken. 

Superannuation 
The Government Employees Superannuation Board (GESB) and 
other funds administers public sector superannuation 
arrangements in Western Australia in accordance with legislative 
requirements.  Eligibility criteria for membership in particular 
schemes for public sector employees varies according to 
commencement and implementation dates. 
Eligible employees contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined 
benefit pension scheme closed to new members since 1987, or 
the Gold State Superannuation Scheme (GSS), a defined benefit 
lump sum scheme closed to new members since 1995. 
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The GSS is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of 
employees and whole-of-government reporting. However, it is a 
defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the 
concurrent contributions (defined contributions) made by the 
Department to GESB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the 
related superannuation liability. 
The Department has no liabilities under the Pension Scheme or 
the GSS. The liabilities for the unfunded Pension Scheme and the 
unfunded GSS transfer benefits attributed to members who 
transferred from the Pension Scheme, are assumed by the 
Treasurer. All other GSS obligations are funded by concurrent 
contributions made by the Department to the GESB.  
Employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who 
were not members of either the Pension Scheme or the GSS 
became non-contributory members of the West State 
Superannuation Scheme (WSS). Employees commencing 
employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the 
GESB Super Scheme (GESBS). From 30 March 2012, existing 
members of the WSS or GESBS and new employees became 
able to choose their preferred superannuation fund. The 
Department makes concurrent contributions to GESB or other 
funds on behalf of employees in compliance with the 
Commonwealth Government’s Superannuation. 
The GESB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension 
Scheme and GSS, and is recouped from the Treasurer for the 
employer’s share. 
Refer to note 2(r) 'Superannuation Expense'. 

Provisions - other 
Employment On-Costs 
Employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance, 
are not employee benefits and are recognised separately as 
liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate 
has occurred. Employment on-costs are included as part of ‘Other 

expenses’ and are not included as part of the Department’s 
‘Employee benefits expense’. The related liability is included in 
‘Employment on-costs provision’. 

(r) Superannuation expense 

The superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income comprises of employer contributions paid to the GSS 
(concurrent contributions), the WSS, and the GESBS. The 
employer contribution paid to the GESB in respect of the GSS is 
paid back into the Consolidated Account by the GESB. 

(s) Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost 

Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be 
reliably measured are recognised as income at fair value. Where 
the resource received represents a service that the Department 
would otherwise pay for, a corresponding expense is recognised. 
Receipts of assets are recognised in the Statement of Financial 
Position.  
Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 
Assets or services received from other State Government 
agencies are separately disclosed under Income from State 
Government in the Statement of Comprehensive Income. 

(t) Comparative figures 

Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be 
comparable with the figures presented in the current financial year. 

Note 3 .  Judgements  made by management  in  

app ly ing account ing  po l i c ies  

The preparation of financial statements requires management to 
make judgements about the application of accounting policies that 
have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial 
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statements. The Department evaluates these judgements 
regularly. 

Operating lease commitment 
The Department has entered into a commercial lease for office 
accommodation and it has determined that the lessor retains 
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. 
Accordingly, the lease has been classified as an operating lease. 

Note 4 .  D isc losure  of  changes in  account ing  

po l icy  and est imates  

The Department has applied the following Australian Accounting 
Standards effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or 
after 1 July 2011 that impacted on the Department: 

AASB 1054 

Australian Additional Disclosures 
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 2011-1 
Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence Project, 
removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard 
to achieve convergence between Australian and New 
Zealand Accounting Standards.  There is no financial 
impact. 

AASB 2009-12 

  

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 5, 8, 108, 110, 112, 119, 133, 137, 139, 1023 
& 1031 and Int 2, 4, 16, 1039 & 1052] 
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a 
range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-4 

  
  

Further Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Annual Improvements 
Project [AASB 1, 7, 101 & 134 and Int 13] 
The amendments to AASB 7 clarify financial 
instrument disclosures in relation to credit risk.  The 
carrying amount of financial assets that would 
otherwise be past due or impaired whose terms have 
been renegotiated is no longer required to be 
disclosed.  There is no financial impact. 

The amendments to AASB 101 clarify the 
presentation of the statement of changes in equity.  
The disaggregation of other comprehensive income 
reconciling the carrying amount at the beginning and 
the end of the period for each component of equity is 
no longer required.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-5 

  

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 101, 107, 112, 118, 119, 121, 132, 
133, 134, 137, 139, 140, 1023 & 1038 and Int 112, 
115, 127, 132 & 1042] 
This Standard makes editorial amendments to a 
range of Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations.  There is no financial impact. 

AASB 2010-6 

  

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
– Disclosures on Transfers of Financial Assets 
[AASB 1 & 7] 
This Standard introduces additional disclosure relating 
to transfers of financial assets in AASB 7.  An entity 
shall disclose all transferred financial assets that are 
not derecognised and any continuing involvement in a 
transferred asset, existing at the reporting date, 
irrespective of when the related transfer transaction 
occurred.  There is no financial impact. 
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AASB 2011-1 

 

Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards 
arising from the Trans-Tasman Convergence 
Project [AASB 1, 5, 101, 107, 108, 121, 128, 132 & 
134 and Int 2, 112 & 113] 
This Standard, in conjunction with AASB 1054, 
removes disclosure requirements from other 
Standards and incorporates them in a single Standard 
to achieve convergence between Australian and New 
Zealand Accounting Standards.  There is no financial 
impact. 

Voluntary changes in accounting policy 
The Department did not make any voluntary changes to its 
Accounting Policy in 2011/12 

Future impact of Australian Accounting Standards not yet 
operative 
The Department cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting 
Standard unless specifically permitted by TI 1101 Application of 
Australian Accounting Standards and Other Pronouncements. 
Consequently, the Department has not applied early any of the 
following Australian Accounting Standards that have been issued 
and that may impact the Department. Where applicable, the 
Department plans to apply these Australian Accounting Standards 
from their application date: 

Operative for reporting periods beginning on/after 

AASB 9 

Financial Instruments 
This Standard supersedes AASB 139 Financial 
Instruments: Recognition and Measurement, 
introducing a number of changes to accounting 
treatments. 

The Standard was reissued in December 2010.  
The Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 10 

Consolidated Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes requirements under 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements and Int 112 Consolidation – Special 
Purpose Entities, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

 

AASB 11 

Joint Arrangements 
This Standard supersedes AASB 131 Interests 
in Joint Ventures, introducing a number of 
changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

 

AASB 12 

Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities 
This Standard supersedes disclosure 
requirements under AASB 127 Consolidated 
and Separate Financial Statements and 
AASB 131 Interests in Joint Ventures. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 13 

Fair Value Measurement 
This Standard defines fair value, sets out a 
framework for measuring fair value and requires 
disclosures about fair value measurements.  
There is no financial impact. 

1 
Jan 
2013 
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AASB 119 

Employee Benefits 
This Standard supersedes AASB 119 Employee 
Benefits (October 2010). As the Department 
does not operate a defined benefit plan, the 
impact of the change is limited to measuring 
annual leave as a long term employee benefit. 
The resultant discounting of the annual leave 
benefit has an immaterial impact. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 127 

Separate Financial Statements 
This Standard supersedes requirements under 
AASB 127 Consolidated and Separate Financial 
Statements, introducing a number of changes to 
accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 128 

Investments in Associates and Joint 
Ventures 
This Standard supersedes AASB 128 
Investments in Associates, introducing a 
number of changes to accounting treatments. 

The Standard was issued in August 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 1053 

Application of Tiers of Australian 
Accounting Standards 
This Standard establishes a differential financial 
reporting framework consisting of two tiers of 
reporting requirements for preparing general 
purpose financial statements.  There is no 
financial impact. 

1 
Jul 

2013 

AASB 2009-
11 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 [AASB 1, 3, 
4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 
131, 132, 136, 139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 10 & 
12] 
[Modified by AASB 2010-7] 

1 
Jul 

2013 

AASB 2010-2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 1, 2, 3, 5, 7, 8, 101, 102, 
107, 108, 110, 111, 112, 116, 117, 119, 121, 
123, 124, 127, 128, 131, 133, 134, 136, 137, 
138, 140, 141, 1050 & 1052 and Int 2, 4, 5, 15, 
17, 127, 129 & 1052] 
This Standard makes amendments to Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations to 
introduce reduced disclosure requirements for 
certain types of entities.  There is no financial 
impact. 

1 
Jul 

2013 

AASB 2010-7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 9 (December 
2010) [AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 
118, 120, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 137, 
139, 1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 5, 10, 12, 19 & 
127] 
This Standard makes consequential 
amendments to other Australian Accounting 
Standards and Interpretations as a result of 
issuing AASB 9 in December 2010.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 
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AASB 2011-2 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Trans-Tasman 
Convergence Project – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements [AASB 101 & 1054] 

This Standard removes disclosure requirements 
from other Standards and incorporates them in 
a single Standard to achieve convergence 
between Australian and New Zealand 
Accounting Standards for reduced disclosure 
reporting.  There is no financial impact. 

1 
Jul 

2013 

AASB 2011-6 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Extending Relief from 
Consolidation, the Equity Method and 
Proportionate Consolidation – Reduced 
Disclosure Requirements [AASB 127, 128 & 
131] 
This Standard extends the relief from 
consolidation, the equity method and 
proportionate consolidation by removing the 
requirement for the consolidated financial 
statements prepared by the ultimate or any 
intermediate parent entity to be IFRS compliant, 
provided that the parent entity, investor or 
venturer and the ultimate or intermediate parent 
entity comply with Australian Accounting 
Standards or Australian Accounting Standards – 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements.  There is no 
financial impact. 

1 
Jul 

2013 

AASB 2011-7 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from the Consolidation 
and Joint Arrangements Standards [AASB 1, 
2, 3, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 101, 107, 112, 118, 121, 
124, 132, 133, 136, 138, 139, 1023 & 1038 and 
Int 5, 9, 16 & 17] 
This Standard gives effect to consequential 
changes arising from the issuance of AASB 10, 
AASB 11, AASB 127 Separate Financial 
Statements and AASB 128 Investments in 
Associates and Joint Ventures.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 2011-8 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 13 [AASB 1, 2, 
3, 4, 5, 7, 9, 2009-11, 2010-7, 101, 102, 108, 
110, 116, 117, 118, 119, 120, 121, 128, 131, 
132, 133, 134, 136, 138, 139, 140, 141, 1004, 
1023 & 1038 and Int 2, 4, 12, 13, 14, 17, 19, 
131 & 132] 
This Standard replaces the existing definition 
and fair value guidance in other Australian 
Accounting Standards and Interpretations as the 
result of issuing AASB 13 in September 2011.  
There is no financial impact. 

1 
Jan 
2013 
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AASB 2011-9 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards – Presentation of Items of Other 
Comprehensive Income [AASB 1, 5, 7, 101, 
112, 120, 121, 132, 133, 134, 1039 & 1049] 
This Standard requires to group items 
presented in other comprehensive income on 
the basis of whether they are potentially 
reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently 
(reclassification adjustments).  The Department 
has not yet determined the application or the 
potential impact of the Standard. 

1 
Jul 

2012 

AASB 2011-
10 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards arising from AASB 119 
(September 2011) [AASB 1, 8, 101, 124, 134, 
1049 & 2011-8 and Int 14] 
This Standard makes amendments to other 
Australian Accounting Standards and 
Interpretations as a result of issuing AASB 119 
Employee Benefits in September 2011.  The 
Department has not yet determined the 
application or the potential impact of the 
Standard. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 2011-
11 

Amendments to AASB 119 (September 2011) 
arising from Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements 
This Standard gives effect to Australian 
Accounting Standards – Reduced Disclosure 
Requirements for AASB 119 (September 2011).  
There is no financial impact. 

1 
Jan 
2013 

AASB 2012-1 

Amendments to Australian Accounting 
Standards - Fair Value Measurement- 
Reduced Disclosure Requirements [AASB 
3,7,13,140 &141] 
This Standard establishes and amends reduced 
disclosure requirements for additional and 
amended disclosures arising from AASB 13 and 
the consequential amendments implemented 
through AASB 2011-8. There is no financial 
impact. 

1 
Jul 

2013 

 

Note 5. Employee benefits expense 

 2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

Wages and salaries (a) 41,800 37,834 

Superannuation - defined contribution 
plans (b) 

4,582 4,406 

Long service leave (c) 530 1,876 

Annual leave (c) 2,858 4,152 

Other related expenses 307 372 

 50,077 48,640 

(a) Includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus 
the fringe benefits tax component. 
(b) Defined contribution plans include West State, Gold State and 
GESB Super Scheme  (contributions paid). 
(c) Includes a superannuation contribution component. 
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Employment on-costs such as workers' compensation insurance 
are included at note 10 'Other expenses'. The employment on-
costs liability is included at note 24 'Provisions'. 

 

Note 6. Supplies and services 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Catering 37  25 

Communications 188  197 

Consumables 156  96 

Contracts  263  169 

Equipment 210  169 

Freight 56  65 

Insurance & licences 202  200 

Leases 334  109 

Legal 13  25 

Management fees 206  264 

Professional fees 7,950  4,561 

Repairs & maintenance 144  101 

Temporary Personnel 306  356 

Travel 266  185 

Other  273  201 

 10,604  6,723 

Note 7. Depreciation and amortisation expense 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

2011 

$'000 

Depreciation     

Buildings 858  877 

Leasehold improvements 7  7 

Furniture, fittings, plant, equipment, 
computer hardware and software 99  94 

Artworks & Collection 7  7 

Total depreciation 971  985 

 
Amortisation     

Intangible Assets 121  20 

Total amortisation 121  20 

 
Total depreciation and amortisation 1,092  1,005 
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Note 8. Accommodation expenses 

 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 

Cleaning 98  61 

Electricity, gas and water 169  314 

Facilities management and 
accommodation 

466  357 

Lease Rentals 1,015  1,016 

Repairs and maintenance 701  209 

 2,449  1,957 
 

Note 9. Grants and subsidies 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

2011 

$'000 

Recurrent    

Major Performing Arts Companies 9,765  6,554 

Arts Refurbishment Projects 3,765  1,640 

Major Arts Agency 18,324  20,532 

ScreenWest 2,002  2,500 

Swan Bell Foundation Trust 400  390 

Other 1,889  1,168 

 36,145  32,784 

Note 10. Other expenses 

 2012 
$'000 

 
 

2011 
$'000 

Employment on-costs (a) (see note 5 
'Employee benefits expense') 

581   308 

Other (b) 74   104 

 655   412 

(a) Includes workers' compensation insurance and other employment on-costs.  The on-
costs liability associated with the recognition of annual and long service leave liability is 
included at note 24 'Provisions'. Superannuation contributions accrued as part of the 
provision for leave are employee benefits and are not included in employment on-costs. 

(b) Includes doubtful debts expense and audit fee. Refer also to note 35. Remuneration 
of auditor. 

 

Note 11. User charges and fees 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

2011 

$'000 

User charges 381  458 
 

Note 12. Commonwealth grants and contributions 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Recurrent 493  990 

Included in the recurrent grants for 2011-12 is a grant from the 
Australia Council for the Artist in Residence Initiative and 
Commonwealth funding as per Service Delivery Agreement for the 
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provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories (Christmas 
and Cocos [Keeling] Islands). 

Note 13. Other revenue 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

 
2011 

$'000 

Recoup of prior year expenses 33   44 

Recoups of salaries and worker's 
compensation costs 116   51 

Sponsorship 9   - 

Rental 119   90 

Other (a) 1,062   1,950 

 1,339   2,135 

(a) 'Other' comprise mainly of Grants and subsidies amounting to $250,000 and refunds 
of un-used grants of $220,000. 

 

Note 14. Net gain (loss) on disposal of non-current 
assets. 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

 
2011 

$'000 

Cost of disposal of non-current assets    

Plant, equipment 5   - 

Net gain/(loss) 
 

5   - 

Note 15. Income from state government 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
 

2011 
$'000 

Appropriation revenue received during 
the year:       

Service appropriations (a) 93,685   91,744 

 93,685   91,744 

The following assets have been 
assumed from/(transferred to) other state 
government agencies during the financial 
year: (b) 

 - Artworks  (40)   0 

Total assets assumed/ (transferred) 
 

(40)   0 

 
Royalties for Regions Fund 24   14 
 
Resources received free of charge (c) 
Determined on the basis of the following 
estimates provided by agencies: 

   

State Solicitor's Office - legal services 12   24 

Department of Finance - Integrated 
Procurement Services 

109   118 

Department of Finance - Accommodation 44     

Department of Finance - Fit-out 205     

 370   142 
 

Total 94,039   91,900 
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(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services 
delivered. The appropriation revenue comprises a cash component and a receivable 
(asset). The receivable (holding account) comprises the depreciation expense for the 
year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year. 

(b) Discretionary transfers of assets between State Government agencies are reported 
as assets assumed/(transferred) under Income from State Government. Non 
discretionary non-reciprocal transfers of net assets (ie. restructuring of administrative 
arrangements) have been classified as Contributions by owners (CBOs) under TI 955 
and taken directly to equity. 

(c) Assets or services received free of charge or for nominal cost are recognised as 
revenue at fair value of the assets and/or services that can be reliably measured and 
which would have been purchased if they were not donated.  Contributions of assets or 
services in the nature of contributions by owners are recognised direct to equity. 

 

Note 16. Restricted cash and cash equivalents 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Current       

Commonwealth funds - service delivery 
arrangement (a) 

294   313 

 294   313 
 
Non-current        

Accrued salaries suspense account (b) 1,285   1,037 

 1,285   1,037 
 
(a) The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth Government have a 
Service Delivery Arrangement for the provision of services to the Indian Ocean 
Territories. The Commonwealth Government recoups the Department the costs 
associated with these services (refer to note 40 'Service Delivery Arrangement)  

(b) Funds held in the suspense account used only for the purpose of meeting the 27th 
pay in a financial year that occurs every 11 years. 

 

 

Note 17. Receivables 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Current    

Receivables 4,673  3,099 

Allowance for impairment of receivables 
 

-  (12) 

GST receivable  1,058  539 

Total current 5,731  3,626 
 
Non current    

Loans and advances:    

- Other debtors 168  200 

Total non current 168  200 
 
Total receivables 5,899  3,826 
 
Reconciliation of changes in the 
allowance for impairment of 
receivables: 

   

Balance at start of period 12  12 

Doubtful debts expense   -  - 

Amounts written off during the period (12)  - 

Amount recovered during the period -  - 

Balance at end of period -  12 

The Department does not hold any collateral as security of other 
credit enhancements relating to receivables. 
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Note 18. Amounts receivable for services 

 
2012 
$'000  2011 

$'000 

Current -  2,588 
Non-current 3,670  - 

 
3,670  2,588 

Represents the non-cash component of service appropriations.  It 
is restricted in that it can only be used for asset replacement or 
payment of leave liability.  
 

Note 19. Other assets 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Current    
Prepayments 68  28 
Accrued Income 170  3 

Total current 238  31 
 
Note 20. Property, plant and equipment 

 2012 
$'000  2011 

$'000 

Land    
At fair value (a) 20,830  20,280 
Accumulated Impairment Losses -  - 
 20,830  20,280 
Buildings    
At fair value (a) 31,472  33,326 

At cost -  26 
Works in progress -  217 
Accumulated depreciation -  (22) 
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 31,472  33,547 
 
Leasehold improvements    

At cost 259  1,200 
Accumulated depreciation (58)  (989) 
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 201  211 
 
Plant and equipment    

At cost 683  735 
Accumulated depreciation (482)  (513) 
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 201  222 
 
Furniture and fittings    

At cost 50  63 
Accumulated depreciation (18)  (22) 
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 32  41 
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Collections    

At fair value 1,477  1,477 
Accumulated Depreciation (157)  (150) 
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 1,320  1,327 
 
Works of art    

At fair value 173  213 
At cost -    
Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 173  213 
 
 Total 54,229  55,841 

(a) Land and buildings were revalued as at 1 July 2011 by the Western Australian 
Land Information Authority (Valuation Services). The valuations were performed 
during the year ended 30 June 2012 and recognised at 30 June 2012. In 
undertaking the revaluation, fair value was determined by reference to market 
values for land: $20,830,000 (2011:$20,280,000) and buildings:$31,472,000 
(2011: $33,326,000). For the remaining balance, fair value of land and buildings 
was determined on the basis of depreciated replacement cost. See note 2(f) 
'Property, plant and equipment'. 

 

  



Department of Culture and the Arts | 95 

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, equipment at the beginning and end of the reporting period are set out in the table 
below. 

2012 
Land Buildings Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant, 
equipment, 
computer 

hardware & 
software 

Furniture 
and 

Fittings 

Works of 
Art and 

Collections 
Total 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Carrying amount at start of period 20,280 33,547 211 222 41 1,540 55,841 
Additions   80   104 -   184 
Disposals     (3) - (3) (40) (46) 
Revaluations 550 (1,000)         (450) 
Transfers (a) - (297)   (32)     (329) 
Depreciation and amortisation - (858) (7) (93) (6) (7) (971) 

Carrying amount at end of year 20,830 31,472 201 201 32 1,493 54,229 
 

2011 
Land Buildings Leasehold 

improvements 

Plant, 
equipment, 
computer 

hardware & 
software 

Furniture 
and 

Fittings 

Works of 
Art and 

Collections 
Total 

$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 
Carrying amount at start of year 31,570 112,426 218 185 47 1,547 145,993 
Additions   23,337 - 125 - - 23,462 
Disposals     - - - - - 
Revaluations 1,210 (617) - - - - 593 
Transfers (a) (12,500) (100,722) - - - - (113,222) 
Depreciation and amortisation - (877) (7) (88) (6) (7) (985) 

Carrying amount at end of year 20,280 33,547 211 222 41 1,540 55,841 
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Note 21. Intangible assets 

 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 

Computer software      

At cost 796  480 

Accumulated amortisation (327)  (368) 

Accumulated impairment losses -  - 

 469  112 

 

Reconciliation      

Carrying amount at start of year 112  19 

Additions/(Disposals) 452  113 

Transfers 26  - 

Amortisation expense (121)  (20) 

Carrying amount at end of year 469  112 

 

Note 22. Impairment of assets 

There were no indications of impairment to property, plant and 
equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2012. 
The Department held no goodwill or intangible assets with an 
indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at balance 
sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for 
use. 

All surplus assets at 30 June 2012 have either been classified as 
assets held for sale or written-off. 

Note 23. Payables 

 
2012 

$'000 
 

2011 

$'000 

Current    

Trade payables 6,722  1,681 

Grants payable 24,003  23,626 

Accrued Expenses 652  1,054 

Accrued Salaries 1,115  1,145 

Accrued Superannuation 111  84 

Total Current 32,603  27,590 

Grants payable is recognised where contracts have been entered 
into with Departmental clients prior to June 30, but not paid. 

 

Note 24. Provisions 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Current    

Employee benefits provision    

Annual leave (a) 3,488  3,910 

Long service leave (b) 5,447  4,011 

 8,935  7,921 
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Other provisions    

Employment on-costs (c) 1,570  755 

 10,505  8,676 

 

Non-current    

Employee benefits provision    

Long service leave (b) 2,138  3,476 

 

Other provisions      

Employment on-costs (c) 221  419 

Total 2,359  3,895 

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there 
is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 months 
after reporting period. Assessments indicate that actual settlement 
of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period 

2,432  2,445 

More than 12 months after the reporting 
period 

1,056  1,465 

 3,488  3,910 

(b) Long service leave liabilities have been classified as current 
where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at 

least 12 months after the reporting period. Assessments indicate 
that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows: 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period 

1,976  2,704 

More than 12 months after the reporting 
period 

5,610  4,782 

 7,586  7,486 

(c) The settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives 
rise to the payment of employment on-costs including workers’ 
compensation insurance. The provision is the present value of 
expected future payments. The associated expense, apart from 
the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is disclosed in note 
10 ‘Other expenses’.' 

Movement in Other Provisions 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Movements in each class of provisions 
during the financial year, other than 
employee benefits, are set out below: 

   

Employment on-cost provision -  - 

Carrying amount at start of period 1,174  1,047 

Additional provisions recognised 617  127 

Payments/other sacrifices of economic 
benefits 

-  - 

Unwinding of the discount -  - 

Carrying amount at end of period 1,791  1,174 



Department of Culture and the Arts | 98 

Note 25. Other liabilities 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Current    

Grant Received in advance 500  - 

Unclaimed monies 1  2 

Other 3  1 

Total Current 504  3 
 

Note 26. Equity 

The Government holds the equity interest in the Department on 
behalf of the community. Equity represents the residual interest in 
the net assets of the Department. The asset revaluation surplus 
represents that portion of equity resulting from the revaluation of 
non-current assets. 

Contributed equity 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Balance at start of period 875  100,231 
 
Contributions by owners 

Capital appropriation  15,500  13,468 

Transfer from Agencies -  2,575 

Total contributions by owners 15,500  16,043 

 
Distributions to owners 

Transfer of assets to other agencies (80)  - 

Other transfer ( Art Gallery WA) (6,671)  (272) 

Transfer to Perth Theatre Trust (133)  (113,222) 

Other transfers   -  (1,905) 

Total distributions to owners (6,884)  (115,399) 
 
Balance at end of period 9,491  875 

Reserves 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Asset revaluation surplus    

Balance at start of period 42,330  41,737 

Net revaluation (increments/decrements):    

Land 550  1,210 

Buildings (1,000)  (617) 

Net revaluation for the period (450)  593 

 

Balance at end of period 41,880  42,330 
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Accumulated surplus/ (deficit) 
Balance at start of period 610  (3,352) 

Result for the period (4,775)  3,962 

Balance at end of period (4,165)  610 

 

Total Equity at end of period 5,936  43,815 

 

Note 27. Notes to the Statement of Cash Flows 

Reconciliation of cash 
 2012  2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 27,093  20,231 

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 
(refer to note 16 Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents) 

1,579  1,350 

 28,672  21,581 

Reconciliation of net cost of services to net cash flows used in 
operating activities 
 
 
 
 
 

 
2012 
$'000 

 
2011 
$'000 

Net cost of services (98,814)  (87,938) 

Non-cash items:    

Depreciation and amortisation expense 
(note 7) 1,092  1,005 

Resources received free of charge  
(note 15) 

370  142 

Net loss on sale of property, plant and 
equipment (note 14) 5  - 

 

(Increase)/decrease in assets:    

Current receivables (1,586)  1,701 

Other current assets (207)  127 

Non current receivables 32  30 

 

Increase/(decrease) in liabilities:    

Current payables 5,013  1,566 

Current provisions 1,631  1,027 

Non-current provisions (1,338)  361 

Other Current Liabilities 501  (282) 

Net GST receipts/(payments) (a) (519)  125 

Net cash used in operating activities (93,820)  (82,136) 

(a) This is the net GST paid/received, ie cash transactions  
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Note 28. Resources provided free of charge 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

During the year the following resources 
were provided to other agencies free of 
charge. 

   

Art Gallery of WA (a) 5,855  3,886 

Library and Information Services of WA 15,068  13,204 

Perth Theatre Trust 2,765  3,214 

ScreenWest 1,173  1,105 

Western Australian Museum (b) 18,250  17,810 

 43,111  39,219 

(a)  Included in the $5.9m of resources provided free of charge to 
the Art Gallery is an amount of $1.8m spent on Art Gallery 
Facade. 
(b) Included in the $18.2m of resources provided free of charge to 
the Western Australian Museum is an amount of $2.6m spent on 
demolition of the Francis Street Museum building. 

 

Note 29. Commitments 

The commitments below are inclusive of GST where relevant 

Non-cancellable operating lease commitments 
 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 

Commitments for minimum lease 
payments are payable as follows: 

   

Within 1 year 1,916  2,285 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 
years 

10,045  7,811 

Later than 5 years 16,167  - 

 28,128  10,096 

The Department has entered into a property lease which is a non-
cancellable lease with a five year term, with rent payable monthly 
in advance.  Contingent rent provisions within the lease agreement 
require that the minimum lease payments shall be increased by 
the lower of CPI or 4% per annum. The department has no official 
commitment after 31 January 2012. 

Capital expenditure commitments 
 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 

Capital expenditure commitments, being 
contracted capital expenditure additional 
to the amounts reported in financial 
statements, are payable as follows: 

   

Within 1 year 200  - 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 
years 

250,400  - 

Later than 5 years 179,400  - 

 430,000  - 
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The capital expenditure commitments include amounts of $428.3 
million for the building of a New State Museum. 

Other expenditure commitments 
 2012 

$'000 
 2011 

$'000 

Grant and other commitments contracted 
for at the end of the reporting period but 
not recognised as liabilities, are payable 
as follows. 

   

Within 1 year 313  - 

Later than 1 year and not later than 5 
years 

23,954  23,439 

 24,267  23,439 

 

Note 30. Contingent liabilities 

Apart from to the liabilities included in the financial statements, the 
Department is not aware of any contingent liability existing as at 
30th June 2012. 

 

Note 31. Events occurring after the end of the reporting 
period. 

The Department is not aware of any event occurring after balance 
sheet date that would materially affect the financial statements. 

 

Note 32. Explanatory statement 

Significant variations between estimates and actual results for 
income and expense as presented in the financial statement titled 

‘Summary of Consolidated Account Appropriations and Income 
Estimates’ are shown below.  Significant variations are considered 
to be those greater than 10% or $5 million. 

 Total appropriations provided to deliver services 

 Significant variances between estimate and actual results 
for 2012  

 There was no significant variance in the total appropriations 
provided to deliver services. 

 Significant variances between  actuals for 2012 and 2011  

 There was no significant variance in the total appropriations 
provided to deliver services. 

Service Expenditure 
Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2012  

 

2012 
Estimate 

$'000 

2012 
Actual 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000  

Recordkeeping and Archival 
Services 2,395 2,776 381 (a) 

Services provided to external 
agencies 53,550 61,264 7,714 (b) 

(a)The increase is mainly a result of a higher level of income 
received from operating activities. 
(b)The increase is due to additional expenditure related to the Art 
Gallery Façade, New Museum Planning costs and projects within 
the global maintenance program. 
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Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 
2011 
 2012 

$'000 
2011 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

 

Services provided to external 
agencies 

61,264 54,498 6,766 (a) 

(a)A large contributor to this increase relates to 'Grants and 
Subsidies' paid out to agencies for capital projects as well as an 
increase in the provision of supplies and services for professional 
services in relations to Art Gallery façade and New Museum 
Planning costs. 

 2012 
$'000 

2011 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

 

Total Income 2,213 3,583 (1,370) (a) 

(a)  The decrease in other revenue mainly due to an one-off grants 
for Commonwealth Heads of Government Meeting in 2011 

 

Capital contribution 
Significant variances between estimate and actual results for 2012 

 2012 
Estimate 

$'000 

2012 
Actual 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

Capital Contribution 21,000 15,500 (5,500) 

The decrease in capital contribution was due to deferred funding 
for the New State Museum & Art Gallery Façade. 

Significant variances between actual results for 2012 and 
2011 
 2012 

$'000 
2011 
$'000 

Variance 
$'000 

Capital Contribution 15,500 11,563 (3,937) 

The increase in capital contribution was mainly due to additional 
funding received for the completion of the State Theatre Centre. 

 

Note 33. Financial instruments-Outstanding 

(a) Financial risk management objectives and policies 
Financial Instruments held by the Department are cash and cash 
equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, loans and 
receivables, and payables. The Department has limited exposure 
to financial risks.  The Department's overall risk management 
program focuses on managing the risks identified below. 

Credit risk 
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of the Department's 
receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations resulting in 
financial loss to the Department. 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting 
period in relation to each class of recognised financial assets is 
the gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any 
allowances for impairment, as shown in the table at Note 33(c) 
'Financial Instruments Disclosures' and Note 17 'Receivables'. 
Credit risk associated with the Department's financial assets is 
minimal because the main receivable is the amounts receivable for 
services (holding account). For receivables other than 
government, the Department trades only with recognised, 
creditworthy third parties.  The Department has policies in place to 
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ensure that sales of products and services are made to customers 
with an appropriate credit history.  In addition, receivable balances 
are monitored on an ongoing basis with the result that the 
Department's exposure to bad debts is minimal. At the end of the 
reporting period there were no significant concentrations of credit 
risk. 

Liquidity risk 
Liquidity risk arises when the Department is unable to meet its 
financial obligations as they fall due.  
The Department is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in 
the normal course of business. 
The Department has appropriate procedures to manage cash 
flows including drawdowns of appropriations by monitoring 
forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient funds are available to 
meet its commitments. 

Market Risk 
Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices such as 
foreign exchange rates and interest rates will affect the 
Department’s income or the value of its holdings of financial 
instruments. 
The Department does not trade in foreign currency and is not 
materially exposed to other price risks. The Department is not 
exposure to market risk for changes in interest rates as all cash, 

restricted cash and cash equivalents are non-interest bearing and 
the department has no borrowings. 

Categories of financial instruments 
The carrying amounts of each of the following categories of 
financial assets and financial liabilities at the end of the reporting 
period are: 

 2012 
$'000 

 2011 
$'000 

Financial Assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 27,093  20,231 

Restricted Cash and cash equivalents 1,579  1,350 

Loans and receivables(a) 8,511  5,875 

 

Financial Liabilities    

Financial Liabilities measured at amortised 
cost 

32,603  27,590 

(a) The amount of loans and receivables excludes GST 
recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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(c) Financial Instrument Disclosures 

Credit Risk 

The following tables disclose the Department's maximum exposure to credit risk, interest rate exposures and ageing analysis of financial 
assets. The Department's maximum exposure to credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of the financial assets as shown 
below. The table discloses the ageing of financial assets that are past due but not impaired and impaired financial assets. The table is based 
on information provided to senior management of the Department. 
The Department does not hold any collateral as security or other credit enhancements relating to the financial assets it holds. 

 
Ageing analysis of financial assets 

 
Past Due but not impaired 

 
Carrying 
Amount 

Not past 
due and 

not 
impaired 

Up to 
1month 

1-3 
months 

3 months to 
1 year 

1-5 
years 

More than 
5 years 

Impaired 
financial assets 

 
$000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

2012 
Cash and cash equivalents 27,074 27,074 - - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,598 1,598 - - - - - - 
Receivables (a) 4,841 4,396 247 17 62 119 - - 
Loans and advances - - - - - - - - 
Amounts receivable for services 3,670 3,670 - - - - - - 

 
37,183 37,183 247 17 62 119 - - 

 
2011 

Cash and cash equivalents 20,231 20,231 - - - - - - 
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 1,350 1,350 - - - - - - 
Receivables (a) 3,287 2,787 229 119 108 32 - 12 
Loans and advances - - - - - - - - 
Amounts receivable for services 2,588 2,588   - - - - - 

 
27,456 27,456 229 348 108 32 -   12 

(a) The amount of receivables excludes the GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable).  
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Liquidity Risk and interest rate exposure 

The following table details Department's interest rate exposure and contractual maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities.  
The maturity analysis section includes interest and principal cash flows.  The interest rate exposure section analyses only the carrying 
amounts of each item. 
Interest rate exposures and maturity analysis of financial assets and financial liabilities (a) 

 
 

Weighted 
Average 
Effective 
Interest 
Rate 

Carrying 
Amount 

Interest rate exposure  Maturity dates 

Fixed 
interest 
rate 

Variable 
interest 
rate 

Non -
Interest 
bearing 

Nominal 
amount 

Up to 1 
month 

1-3 
months 

3 months 
to 1 year 

1-5 
years 

More 
than 5 
years 

 
% $000 $000 $000 $000 $ 000 $000 $000 $000 $000 $000 

2012            

Financial Assets            

Cash and cash equivalents  27,093 - - 27,093 27,093 - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  1,579 - - 1,579 1,579 - - - - - 

Receivables (a)  4,841 - - 4,841 4,841 - - - - - 

Loans and advances  - - - - - - - - - - 

Amounts receivable for 
services  3,670 - - 3,670 3,670 - - - - - 

   37,183 - - 37,183 37,183 - - - - - 

Financial Liabilities    
  

    
     

Payables  8,600 - - 8,600 8,600 - - - - - 

Grants and loans payable  24,003 - - 24,003 24,003 - - - - - 

   32,603 - - 32,603 32,603 - - - - - 
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2011 

Financial Assets    
  

  
     

Cash and cash equivalents  20,231 - - 20,231 20,231 - - - - - 

Restricted cash and cash 
equivalents  1,350 - - 1,350 1,350 - - - - - 

Receivables (a)  3,287 - - 3,287 3,287 - - - - - 

Loans and advances  - - - - - - - - - - 

Amounts receivable for 
services  2,588 - - 2,588 2,588 - - - - - 

   27,456 - - 27,456 27,456 - - - - - 

Financial Liabilities    
  

    
     

Payables  3,964 - - 3,964 3,964 - - - - - 

Grants and loans payable  23,626 - - 23,626 23,626 - - - - - 

   27,590 - - 27,590 27,590 - - - - - 

(a)  The amounts of receivables exclude GST recoverable from the ATO (statutory receivable). 
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Interest rate sensitivity analysis 
The following table represents a summary of the interest rate 
sensitivity of the Department's financial assets and liabilities at the 
end of the reporting period on the surplus for the period and equity 
for a 1% change in interest rates. It is assumed that the change in 
interest rates is held constant throughout the reporting period. 

2012 
Carrying 
Amount 

$000 

-100 basis points +100 basis 
points 

Surplus 
$000 

Equity 
$000 

Surplus 
$000 

Equity 
$000 

Financial assets 
     

Restricted cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

1,579 (16) (16) 16 16 

Financial 
Liabilities      
Accounts payable 8,600 (86) (86) 86 86 

Total Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

(102) (102) 102 102 

 

2011 
Carrying 
Amount 
$000 

-100 basis 
points 

+100 basis 
points 

Surplus 

$000 

Equity 

$000 

Surplus 

$000 

Equity 

$000 

Financial assets 
     

Restricted cash 
and cash 
equivalents 

1,350 (14) (14) 14 14 

Financial 
Liabilities       
Accounts 
payable 3,964 (40) (40) 40 40 

Total Increase/ 
(Decrease)  

(54) (54) 54 54 

Fair Values 
All financial assets and liabilities recognised in the statement of 
financial position, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 
recognised at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation 
of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable notes. 
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Note 34. Remuneration of senior officers-Outstanding 

The number of senior officers, whose total of fees, salaries, 
superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the 
financial year fall within the following bands are: 

$ 2012  2011 

130,001 - 140,000 -  1 

140,001 - 150,000 -  - 

150,001 - 160,000 1  - 

160,001 - 170,000 -  1 

170,001 - 180,000 1  - 

180,001 - 190,000 1  1 

260,001 - 270,000 -  1 

270,001 - 280,000 1  - 

Total remuneration of senior officers  797,000  750,000 

The total remuneration includes the superannuation expense 
incurred by the Department in respect of senior officers. 

Note 35. Remuneration of auditor 

Remuneration payable to the Auditor General in respect of the 
audit for the current financial year is as follows: 

Auditing the accounts, financial 
statements and key performance 
indicators 

62 
 

58 

The expense is included in note 10 'Other Expenses' 

 

Note 36. Related bodies 

The Department has no related bodies.  

 

Note 37. Affiliated bodies 

The Department provides grants to non-government affiliated 
bodies for administrative support.  In accordance with Treasurer's 
Instruction 951, the details of financial assistance provided to the 
non-government affiliated bodies are shown in the table below.  A 
full list showing details of all grants provided to non-government 
bodies has been included in the grants lists attached to and 
forming part of the annual report. 

 

2012 
$ 

2011 
$ 

Affiliated Body   

Art on the Move 462 - 

Barking Gecko Theatre - 412 

International Art Space Kellerberrin - 218 

PICA - 379 

WA Playwrights Consortium 76 74 

WA Youth Theatre Company 79 75 

Writing WA - 141 

 
617 1,299 
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Note 38. Special purpose accounts 

Special Purpose Account - section 16(1)(b) of FMA 

Arts Lotteries Trust Account 
 $'000  $'000 

Balance at start of the period -  - 

Receipts 14,000  13,000 

Payments (14,000)  (13,000) 

Balance at end of the period -  - 

 

Note 39. Supplementary financial information 

(a) Write-offs 
During the financial year $12,100 (2011: $0) in bad debts was 
written off under the authority of: 

 $'000  $'000 

The accountable authority 12  - 

 12  - 

(b) Loss through theft, defaults and other causes 
There were no losses through theft, defaults and other causes. 
(c) Gifts of public property 
There were no gifts of public property provided by the Department.  

 

Note 40. Service Delivery Arrangement - 
Commonwealth Grant-Outstanding 

The Department of Culture and the Arts and the Commonwealth 
Government have entered into a Service Delivery Arrangement for 
the provision of services to the Indian Ocean Territories 
(Christmas and Cocos [Keeling] Islands).  The Commonwealth 
Government reimburses the Department any costs incurred in 
association with these services, as detailed below: 
 

Balance at the start of the year 313  83 

Receipts 138  379 

Payments (157)  (149) 

Balance at the end of the year 294  313 

 


